

University of Pennsylvania ScholarlyCommons

Publicly Accessible Penn Dissertations

1-1-2016

Bypassing Nk Cell Tuning by Targeting Diacylglycerol Kinase Zeta, A Distal Regulator of Signaling

Enjun Yang University of Pennsylvania, palewhisper@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: http://repository.upenn.edu/edissertations Part of the <u>Allergy and Immunology Commons</u>, <u>Immunology and Infectious Disease Commons</u>, and the <u>Medical Immunology Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Yang, Enjun, "Bypassing Nk Cell Tuning by Targeting Diacylglycerol Kinase Zeta, A Distal Regulator of Signaling" (2016). *Publicly Accessible Penn Dissertations*. 2112. http://repository.upenn.edu/edissertations/2112

This paper is posted at ScholarlyCommons. http://repository.upenn.edu/edissertations/2112 For more information, please contact libraryrepository@pobox.upenn.edu.

Bypassing Nk Cell Tuning by Targeting Diacylglycerol Kinase Zeta, A Distal Regulator of Signaling

Abstract

NK cells are part of the innate immune system, and play an important role in viral and tumor defense. Improving natural killer (NK) cell function could be beneficial for enhancing anti-tumor or anti-viral responses. However, efforts to improve NK cell function by disrupting negative regulators that target proximal signaling pathways paradoxically results in less responsive NK cells. This is often attributed to their ability to tune their responsiveness. In this thesis, I found that NK cells are extremely sensitive to loss of inhibitory ligand or mediators of inhibitory signaling. Using adoptive transfer and mixed chimera models, I found that MHC class I expression is necessary both in cis and trans for NK cells to possess full functionality. Furthermore, using an acute model of genetic targeting, I found that temporal ablation of SHP-1 was sufficient to drive hyporesponsiveness, and the loss of even a single allele of SHP-1 had profound effects on NK cell responses. However, the data also showed that tuned NK cells could still be stimulated to respond via analogs of secondary messengers of signaling, suggesting that NK cell tuning targets proximal signaling pathways.

To improve NK cell function but avoid NK cell tuning, I targeted a distal negative regulator of signaling. I found that genetic deletion of diacylglycerol kinase zeta (DGK ζ), a negative regulator of diacylglycerol-mediated signaling, enhances NK cell function due to its distal position in the signaling cascade. Upon activating receptor stimulation, NK cells from mice lacking DGK ζ display increased cytokine production and cytotoxicity in an ERK-dependent manner. This enhancement of NK cell function is NK cell-intrinsic and developmentally independent. Importantly, DGK ζ deficiency does not affect inhibitory NK cell receptor expression or function. Thus, DGK ζ KO mice display enhanced clearance of a TAP-deficient tumor. I therefore propose that enzymes that negatively regulate distal signaling pathways such as DGK ζ represent novel targets for augmenting the therapeutic potential of NK cells.

Degree Type Dissertation

Degree Name Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)

Graduate Group Immunology

First Advisor Taku Kambayashi

Keywords

Natural cytotoxicity, NK cells, Signal transduction

Subject Categories

Allergy and Immunology | Immunology and Infectious Disease | Medical Immunology

 $This \ dissertation \ is \ available \ at \ Scholarly Commons: \ http://repository.upenn.edu/edissertations/2112$

BYPASSING NK CELL TUNING BY TARGETING DIACYLGLYCEROL KINASE ZETA, A DISTAL

REGULATOR OF SIGNALING

EnJun Yang

A DISSERTATION

in

Immunology

Presented to the Faculties of the University of Pennsylvania

in

Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the

Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

2016

Supervisor of Dissertation

Taku Kambayashi

Assistant Professor of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine

Graduate Group Chairperson

David Allman Associate Professor of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine

Dissertation Committee

Igor Brodsky, Assistant Professor of Microbiology

Kerry Campbell , Associate Professor at Fox Chase Cancer Center

Christopher Hunter, Professor of Pathobiology

Paula Oliver, Associate Professor of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine

BYPASSING NK CELL TUNING BY TARGETING DIACYLGLYCEROL KINASE ZETA, A DISTAL

REGULATOR OF SIGNALING

COPYRIGHT

2016

EnJun Yang

This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 License

To view a copy of this license, visit

http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-ny-sa/2.0/

Dedication page

To my brother, Enbin, who keeps me firmly grounded.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

I would like to take this opportunity to thank the faculty of the Immunology Program at Penn, especially the program chairs, both past and present, for their constant support and guidance. To all the members of my committee, Igor, Paula, Chris, Kerry, Avinash, and Gary, thank you for taking the time out to meet with me and provide much needed advice and direction, both in science and life. Also, much appreciation goes toward all the program administrators, especially Mary Taylor, for helping us navigate the paperwork that we constantly forget about. Thank you to all my program classmates, now friends, for their support, occasional commiseration, and celebrations. To all my labmates, especially the lab manager Mariko, I am certain this thesis would not have been completed without your help. Also, special thanks to all the friends that I've met and made in the city, and all the fun times we've had together. Last but not least, to Taku, my mentor. I've said this before, but will say it again, thank you for all the guidance and support through these years. Your constant optimism and excitement in the lab has been a source of stability and inspiration to all of us in the lab.

ABSTRACT

BYPASSING NK CELL TUNING BY TARGETING DIACYLGLYCEROL KINASE ZETA, A DISTAL REGULATOR OF SIGNALING

EnJun Yang

Taku Kambayashi

NK cells are part of the innate immune system, and play an important role in viral and tumor defense. Improving natural killer (NK) cell function could be beneficial for enhancing anti-tumor or anti-viral responses. However, efforts to improve NK cell function by disrupting negative regulators that target proximal signaling pathways paradoxically results in less responsive NK cells. This is often attributed to their ability to tune their responsiveness. In this thesis, I found that NK cells are extremely sensitive to loss of inhibitory ligand or mediators of inhibitory signaling. Using adoptive transfer and mixed chimera models, I found that MHC class I expression is necessary both in cis and trans for NK cells to possess full functionality. Furthermore, using an acute model of genetic targeting, found that temporal ablation of SHP-1 was sufficient to drive L hyporesponsiveness, and the loss of even a single allele of SHP-1 had profound effects on NK cell responses. However, the data also showed that tuned NK cells could still be stimulated to respond via analogs of secondary messengers of signaling, suggesting that NK cell tuning targets proximal signaling pathways.

To improve NK cell function but avoid NK cell tuning, I targeted a distal negative regulator of signaling. I found that genetic deletion of diacylglycerol kinase zeta (DGKζ), a negative regulator of diacylglycerol-mediated signaling, enhances NK cell function due to its distal position in the signaling cascade. Upon activating receptor stimulation, NK cells from mice lacking DGKζ display increased cytokine production and cytotoxicity in an ERK-dependent manner. This enhancement of NK cell function is NK cell-intrinsic and developmentally independent. Importantly, DGKζ deficiency does not affect inhibitory NK cell receptor expression or function. Thus, DGKζ KO mice display enhanced clearance of a TAP-deficient tumor. I therefore propose that enzymes that negatively regulate distal signaling pathways such as DGKζ represent novel targets for augmenting the therapeutic potential of NK cells.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	V
LIST OF TABLES	IX
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS	X
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
Natural killer cells and innate immunity	1
NK cell development and the NK cell receptor repertoire	5
The murine NK cell inhibitory receptors	7
The murine NK cell activating receptors Receptors that utilize ITAM mediated signaling The NKG2D pathway The SAP dependent pathway	9
NK cell activating signals – Beyond the receptors IP ₃ Signaling DAG signaling in activation	 13 14 15
NK cell responsiveness – A concert of inhibition and activation	16
NK cell tuning – Arming versus disarming	18
NK cells in the clinic	19
CHAPTER 2: NK CELLS TUNE THEIR PROXIMAL SIGNALING PATHWAYS DESPONSE TO CHANCES IN MHC CLASS LEXPRESSION	IN 21
RESI ONSE TO CHANGES IN MITC CEASS I EXI RESSION	
Introduction	
Results	25
Ly49C binds to MHC Class I in Cis and licenses NK cells in C57/BL6 mice	25
NK cells are acutely dependent on SHP-1 concentration	
NK cell tuning may have both cell intrinsic and cell extrinsic components	27
Discussion	29
Figures	34

CHAPTER 3: DIACYLGLYCEROL KINASE ZETA NEGATIVELY REGULATES NK CELL FUNCTION	38
Introduction	38
Results DGK ζ -deficient NK cells are hyperresponsive to activating receptor stimulation in an NK cell intrinsic and developmentally independent manner DGK ζ KO NK cells are hyperresponsive secondary to enhanced DAG signaling and ERK activation	42 - 42 44
DGK ζ KO NK cells are licensed and exhibit increased clearance of TAP-deficient tumor cells in vivo.	s 45
Discussion	48
Figures	53
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION	60
Overview	60
APPENDIX I	68
APPENDIX II	59
APPENDIX III: MATERIALS AND METHODS	70
BIBLIOGRAPHY	75

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1: Inhibitory receptors on murine NK cell	pg. 7
Table 1.2: Activating receptors on murine NK cells	pg. 10

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

Figure 1: Ly49C binds to MHC Class I in cis, and increases NK cell	
responsiveness in C57/BL6 mice	pg. 34
Figure 2: NK cells from MHC Class I deficient mice are less likely to	
respond to proximal signals as compared to WT controls.	pg. 35
Figure 3: SHP-1 insufficiency results in NK cell hyporesponsiveness	pg. 36
Figure 4: Expression of MHC Class I in cis and trans is important for NK	
cell tuning	pg. 37
Figure 5: DGKζ-deficient NK cells exhibit enhanced function	
downstream of activating receptors	pg. 53
Figure 6: DGK α deficiency does not enhance NK cell responsiveness	pg. 54
Figure 7: DGKζ KO LAKs display increased cytotoxicity and cytokine	
production upon interaction with tumor cells	pg. 55
Figure 8: DGK ζ KO NK cells are hyperresponsive in a cell-intrinsic and	
developmentally independent manner	pg. 56
Figure 9: Enhanced ERK signaling is associated with the	
hyperresponsiveness of DGKζ KO NK cells	pg. 57
Figure 10: DGK ζ KO NK cells are licensed and more effectively clear	
TAP-deficient tumor cells	pg. 58
Figure 11: DGK ζ deficiency enhances NK cell function without affecting	pg. 59
inhibitory receptor signaling	

Appendix I: The kinase domain of DGKζ is important for its function Appendix II: DGKζ deficiency may affect total PA levels, but receptor stimulation does not appear to affect PA levels in LAKs

CHAPTER 1: Introduction

Natural killer cells and innate immunity

The immune system is the result of constant evolutionary pressure on an organism to protect itself from illness. Indeed, there are a large variety and number of internal and external threats that exist, and the immune system has had to construct a number of different defenses against them. Broadly speaking, the immune system can be divided into two arms, the innate and the adaptive. The former consists of a group of cells that are capable of responding to threats quickly, often by engulfing or trapping foreign material and are also important in recruiting and activating other immune cells at the site of disease. Some examples of innate immunity include natural killer (NK) cells, dendritic cells (DCs), macrophages, and mast cells. Many of their functions are carried out through pattern recognition receptors that are encoded in the germline of each organism. These receptors allow for rapid recognition of a broad range of pathogens. They are therefore often considered our first line of defense.

In contrast, the adaptive immune system consists of T and B cells whose responses are more specific. The adaptive immune system is able to achieve this specificity due to a series of error-prone but deliberate genetic rearrangements that provide a diverse array of cells that have different repertoires. However, due to this mechanism of development and formation, the initial frequency of adaptive immune cell that can respond to a particular threat is extremely low. Upon contact with their cognate antigen, the adaptive immune cell is able to proliferate quickly to increase their numbers, and eventually overcome the threat. Following this response, some of these cells are then kept in a memory "reserve", which allows the organism to fight off subsequent reinfection in a shorter period of time. However, the low initial frequency of adaptive immune cells for a specific target implies that the adaptive immune system requires time in order to expand and fight off the disease; the innate immune system is thus involved in both buying this time by keeping the pathogen growth in check, as well as promoting the recruitment and activation of the adaptive system if necessary.

NK cells fall under a subset of innate immune cells called the innate lymphoid cells (ILCs). ILCs are subdivided according to the cytokines they produce and the transcription factors they express. For example, ILC group I cells (which include NK cells) are typically associated with transcription factors such as Tbet and Eomes and are capable of producing the cytokines TNF α and IFN γ upon stimulation (1). This diversity of function in the ILCs has often been compared to the adaptive helper T cell. However, compared to the helper T cell, ILCs, as innate immune cells, are capable of rapid response to stimuli.

More specifically, NK cells were found by Rolf Kiessling et al. who reported that a subset of cells isolated from naive mouse spleen was able to display rapid *in vitro* killing of target cell lines, and thus gave rise to their nomenclature (2). Eventually, the existence of the NK cell was finally narrowed down to the subset of cells that expressed the receptors CD49b (DX5), NCR1

(NKp46) and in C57/BL6 mice, the receptor KLRB1 (NK1.1). To differentiate them from NKT cells, an exclusion gate consisting of CD3 or CD4 and CD8 is also often used. While a similar exclusion gating strategy is used in humans, NK cells are instead marked by their expression of the receptors CD16 and CD56 and form about 10% of the lymphocytes in human peripheral blood.

The anti-tumor ability of NK cells has now been confirmed by multiple *in vivo* studies, and reports have shown that NK cells utilize an abundance of cytotoxic granules to kill their targets (3, 4). However, research has also shown that the cytokine production capacity of NK cells is important in viral defenses (5, 6). In particular, their ability to produce high amounts of IFN γ is critical in inhibiting viral replication and boosting innate as well as adaptive immune responses (7).

This capacity to kill target cells and produce large quantities of cytokine is also a hallmark of other immune cell types like the activated CD8⁺ T cell. What truly sets NK cells apart is their ability to detect the loss of immunological "self". One of the key determining factors of cellular immunological identity is the expression of Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) Class I. This molecule is present on a large majority of cells in the body, and it presents peptides on the cell surface that are from proteins normally expressed within the cell. In particular, CD8⁺ T cells rely on the presentation of aberrant antigens by MHC Class I to recognize the transformation of normal cells (by viral or carcinogenic methods) and thereby target the transformed cell for killing (8). Hence, one

common method utilized by virus-infected or transformed cells is the downregulation of MHC Class I to evade detection by CD8⁺ T cells. NK cells are capable of detecting this downregulation of class I, and are therefore complementary to CD8⁺ T cells in protecting the host from such threats. The importance of NK cells is demonstrated in humans bearing genetic mutations that result in impaired NK cell development or function; they are more vulnerable to infection by viruses that downregulate MHC Class I, such as the herpesviruses and papillomaviruses (9).

This unique function of NK cells, first postulated by Ljunggren et al., is now known as the "missing self hypothesis" (10). It is now recognized that missing self recognition is made possible by the array of germline encoded NK inhibitory receptors that are able to bind to MHC Class I and enable NK cells to detect fluctuations in surface class I levels on target cells. In humans, many of these receptors fall under the Killer-cell Immunoglobulin-like Receptors (KIRs), while in mice they largely fall under the Ly49 receptor family.

Aside from these inhibitory receptors, NK cells also express a variety of activating receptors, which assist them in understanding their surroundings. The inhibitory and activating receptors combined form the NK cell receptor repertoire, and their expression is an integral part of NK cell development and function.

NK cell development and the NK cell receptor repertoire

The vast majority of NK cells develop in the bone marrow, with smaller tissue resident subsets that potentially develop in situ in the thymus and liver(11, 12). In both humans and mice, the expression of the beta chain of the IL-2 receptor (CD122) denotes a critical stage in the development of NK cells. This enables the NK progenitors to be responsive to IL-15, which has been shown to be important in the expansion, survival and further maturation of NK cells (13, 14). Not only has IL-15 deficiency been shown to affect NK cell numbers in vivo, IL-15 overexpression results in overproliferation of NK cells (15). Oddly enough, the expression of the high-affinity IL-15 receptor alpha is critical in maintaining NK cell numbers, but is most important on bone marrow DCs; it is thought that they are responsible for cross presentation of IL-15 to developing NK cells in the bone marrow (16). Once they become IL-15 responsive, NK cell progenitors proceed by expressing the activating receptors NKG2D and NK1.1, and it is at this point that NK cells are thought to begin their education on their MHC Class I environment. This education is performed by bone marrow stromal cells, and is meant to instruct NK cells on their host's specific immunological self. The hypothesis surrounding early marrow education of NK cells is supported by observations of NK cell developmental assays in vitro (17).

In order to understand the surrounding MHC class I, the immature NK cells must begin to express their inhibitory receptors. Unfortunately, due to the homology between the receptors, studying the mechanistic details of Ly49

acquisition has proven to be challenging. However, we do know that not all NK cells will express an inhibitory receptor, as only a fraction of NK cells will express each receptor. While this fraction only stabilizes in adult mice, it remains consistent between WT control mice. Much like the immunoglobulin genes and TCR alpha locus, the Ly49 receptors also predominantly undergo allelic exclusion (18, 19). Intriguingly, the data further suggest that the expression of inhibitory receptors is a stochastic process (20). Furthermore, the fraction of NK cells coexpressing two or more receptors is similar to the expected result when applying the product rule, suggesting that the receptors are independently acquired (18). Finally, reports have shown that the process is sequential; there is a specific timeframe for an individual NK cell to acquire each inhibitory receptor, leading to stable expression of that particular receptor for the life of the NK cell (21). These data combined paint a picture of how diversity of surface receptor expression on NK cells is acquired and maintained, in order to create a repertoire of NK cells that are capable of recognize different threats.

Further hints to the inhibitory receptor acquisition process can be found throughout the literature. As alluded to before, bone marrow stroma can instruct developing NK cells; the MHC class I expression pattern of the host shapes the receptor repertoire of its NK cells (17, 21). More strikingly, mutations in the signal activation cascade have demonstrated that activating signals are important in NK cell inhibitory receptor acquisition. For example, inhibitory receptor expression is mildly defective in NK cells that are missing Syk and Zap 70, and is largely abrogated in NK cells from PLC γ 2 knockout (KO) mice (22, 23). Conversely, loss

of inhibitory signal mediators (like the inhibitory phosphatase SHP-1) appears to increase Ly49 receptor expression (24). Thus, receptor acquisition in NK cells appears to be a multifaceted phenomenon, and gives rise to a vast array of NK cell "subsets" that have a variegated expression of potential receptors. In humans, a recent study showed that there might be as many as 30,000 different NK cell surface phenotypes in a single healthy donor (25). However, more work remains to be done in understanding the NK cell receptor repertoire.

The murine NK cell inhibitory receptors

Of the Ly49 family of receptors that have been sequenced, 13 of them are inhibitory(26). However, only 4 of them are often discussed, and thus will be within the scope of this thesis. Additionally, one other inhibitory receptor, the NKG2A/CD94 complex is also often brought up in literature, and has therefore been added to the list as well (Table 1.1).

Receptor	Ligand
Ly49A	H2-M3, H2-D ^d
Ly49C	H2-K ^d , H2-K ^b
Ly49I	H2-K ^d , H2-K ^b , H2-D ^k (?)
Ly9G2	H2-D ^d
NKG2A/CD94	Qa1 ^b

Table1.1: Inhibitory receptors on murine NK cells

As the table above shows, the large majority of ligands for the inhibitory receptors are MHC Class I molecules, from both the non-classical and the classical families. Many of the Ly49 inhibitory receptors are promiscuous, and combined with their variegated expression patterns, it enables NK cells to have a greater coverage of the potential MHC class I haplotype of the host animal (27). In general, all the inhibitory receptors express an Immunoreceptor Tyrosinebased Inhibitory Motif (ITIM) in their cytoplasmic domain (NKG2A itself does not, but it is expressed as a heterodimer with CD94 which does) (28). Upon ligation of the inhibitory receptor, the ITIM gets phosphorylated, likely by a Src kinase (29). The phosphorylated ITIM is then able to associate with inhibitory phosphatases like the Src Homology region 2 (SH2) domain-containing inositol 5'-phosphatase (SHIP) or SH2 domain-containing phosphatase (SHP-1). This brings the inhibitory phosphatases in close proximity to the surface to attenuate proximal signaling. Thus, it came as no surprise when mutations affecting the expression or function of the inhibitory phosphatases SHP-1 and SHIP were shown to affect the ability of the inhibitory receptors to inhibit killing (24, 30). Mechanistically, it has also been shown that the expression of the relevant MHC class I molecule on a target cell recruits the relevant inhibitory receptor into the pre-activation synapse. This draws in the inhibitory phosphatases toward the cell-cell interface, resulting in attenuated activation signals and cessation of the killing machinery (31). Thus, inhibitory receptors play an important role in determining the outcome

of cell-cell interactions in NK cells, and are crucial in reducing the potential for NK cell mediated autoimmunity.

The murine NK cell activating receptors

Unlike the inhibitory receptors, many of the NK cell activating receptors are expressed on a majority of NK cells. The exceptions are Ly49D and Ly49H, which are expressed on roughly half of all mature NK cells (32). The sequences of the activating receptors quickly revealed that many had short cytoplasmic tails with no intrinsic signaling capacity, and would require adaptor proteins to transmit their signals. For the sake of discussing activating signals in NK cells, it is therefore more useful to broadly divide the activating NK cell receptors in the mouse into 3 major groups based on their signaling modules (28)(Table 1.2).

Receptor	Signal adaptor	Signaling motif
NK1.1	FCεRIγ	ITAM
CD16	FCεRIγ	ITAM
NKp46	CD3ζ	ITAM
Ly49D	DAP12	ITAM
Ly49H	DAP12	ITAM
NKG2D	DAP10	YNIM
CD244 (2B4)	SAP	ITSM (on 2B4)

Table 1.2: Activating receptors on murine NK cells

Receptors that utilize ITAM mediated signaling

NK cells constitutively express 3 major ITAM-bearing adaptors of signaling: FC ϵ RI γ , DAP12, and CD3 ζ . Both FC ϵ RI γ and DAP12 have a single ITAM in their cytoplasmic tails, whereas CD3 ζ has three. Unsurprisingly, the signal transduction pathways downstream of the receptors utilizing these adaptors are similar to that of T and B cells, whose specialized receptors also signal using ITAM motifs. Upon engagement of their associated receptors, these ITAMs are phosphorylated by Src kinase family members like Fyn (33). The phosphorylated tyrosines on the ITAMs are then able to bind to the tyrosine

kinases Zap-70 and Syk, which then proceed to engage further mediators of the activation cascade, including PI3K and Vav (28).

The NKG2D pathway

NKG2D is expressed in both mice and humans, and pairs with both itself and two units of DAP10. A large area of interest in NKG2D research has been on the regulation and expression of its ligands. Not only are NKG2D ligands upregulated during viral transformation, but the expression of ligands like Rae1 (murine) and MICA/B (human) have also been linked to the activity of E2F transcription factors, which are regulated by cell cycle machinery. Thus, researchers have linked the expression of NKG2D ligands to cellular hyperproliferation, a hallmark of tumorigenesis, which makes NKG2D an attractive target for cancer immunosurveillance.

In mice, a shorter transcript of NKG2D is generated by alternative splicing, and can associate with DAP12. However, the most common form of the NKG2D receptor exists as a hexamer, and each of the four DAP10 units in the hexamer has a single YNIM signal motif in the cytoplasm (34, 35). Like the ITAM bearing adaptors, the YNIM signal motif in DAP10 is phosphorylated by Src family kinases upon ligation of NKG2D with cognate ligand. However, this process does not seem to activate the Syk family kinases, but instead may directly recruit Grb2/Vav1 or PI3K to transduce signals further downstream.

The SAP dependent pathway

CD244, also known as 2B4, is a member of the SLAM family of receptors. It contains an Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based switch motif (ITSM) which, when phosphorylated, associates with SH2 domains of proteins like SAP and EAT2 (28). However, while 2B4 is classed as an activating receptor in many studies, the data also demonstrate that certain conformations of 2B4 prefer to bind to phosphatases like SHP1 instead, which could indicate a role for 2B4 in inhibitory signals (36). The ligand for 2B4 is CD48, which is expressed on other hematopoietic cells; upon engaging its ligand, 2B4 is phosphorylated by Fyn on its ITSMs. The fact that CD48 is expressed on many hematopoietic cell subsets (including other NK cells) also suggests the potential for NK cells to provide costimulation for each other. Indeed, blocking 2B4 interactions during in vitro NK culture results in decreased proliferation. Furthermore, loss of 2B4 costimulation in vivo also results in poorer NK cell responses (36). More recently, a study was able to show that SAP signaling was responsible for regulating both Vav1 and SHIP, and resulted in increased conjugate formation in NK cells (37).

NK cell activating signals – Beyond the receptors

The complexity of proximal signaling pathways deriving from the array of activating receptor-adaptor pairs serves as a foreshadowing for some of the difficulties in studying NK cell signaling. For example, NK cells express a large number of the Src family kinases: including Fyn, Lyn, Lck and Src itself. Models of genetic loss of these molecules has shown modest phenotypes in NK cells, suggesting some redundancy in their function (29, 33, 38). In another surprising yet similar example, knocking out both Syk and Zap70 in NK cells attenuates but does not abrogate their development or function completely (22).

Fortunately, as our discussion proceeds to signals that are distal to the different activating receptors that were previously listed, their activation pathways actually begin to overlap. They converge not only with each other, but also onto pathways that have been well studied in other cell types. PI3K is listed as a target protein downstream in two out of three pathways of activation, and Vav is a target in all three. Furthermore, work by a previous graduate student from our lab provided confirmation of the convergence in signaling; NK cells lacking SLP-76, an adaptor molecule that is critical in T cell signal transduction, were unable to respond to signals through the three groups of activating receptors (32). However, the same study also provided a slight twist to the comparison between NK cells and T cells: two different proximal activating receptor complexes were reported in NK cells, and loss of either impaired but did not abrogate NK cell responses. Research on T cells has demonstrated that one of the most crucial

factors downstream of SLP-76 activation is the activation of PLC γ . Thus, similar to the findings in SLP-76 deficient mice, NK cells from mice lacking PLC γ 2 were also severely defective in their ability to kill targets and produce cytokines, reiterating the importance of this pathway in NK cell function (23, 39).

Aside from the aforementioned studies, much the information we have regarding the distal activation pathways relies on studies from other immune cell types like T cells. While the following discussion probably holds true in NK cells as well, it is entirely possible that future research may uncover more intricate details that are unique to NK cells as well.

In T cells, the primary effect of PLC_{γ} activation is the cleaving of phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂) into two secondary messengers: inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP₃) and Diacylglycerol (DAG) (40, 41). Both of these secondary messengers play separate roles in the activation cascade, and will be briefly touched upon in the subsections to follow.

IP₃ Signaling

As mentioned prior, IP_3 is one of the second messengers formed by activation of PLC_{γ}. One function of IP_3 is to serve as a precursor for the formation of other higher order inositol messenger molecules via the activity of inositol kinases and phosphatases. The effects of inositol messengers include the activation of the GTPase GAP1, and potentially even AKT(42). However, the primary focus of research into IP₃ function has been on its interactions with its receptor located on the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). Binding of IP₃ to the receptor releases Ca²⁺ that has been stored by the cell in the ER, which then proceeds to activate store operated calcium (SOC) channels and allows for entry of extracellular calcium into the cytoplasm through the plasma membrane. Recent work has indicated that in immune cells, CRACM1 (Orai1) is the major SOC channel, with STIM1 being the ER-located calcium sensor that activates Orai1. SOC release and Orai1 function leads to sharp increases in calcium flux, which activates kinases like JNK and transcriptional regulators like NFAT and NF κ B (43). In particular, NFAT requires high concentrations of Ca²⁺ (and corresponding calcineurin activity) in order to remain in the nucleus to perform its transcriptional functions. NFAT is critical for immune cell development, survival and cytokine production (44), and cements the importance of IP₃ signaling in immune cells.

DAG signaling in activation

DAG mediated signaling has been shown to activate a wide variety of different proteins, including PKCs, Ras-GRPs, and Munc-13 protein family members (45). However, in T cell activation, studies of DAG signaling have focused on three pathways that are affected by DAG regulation: AKT, MEK and PKC0 (46-48). The binding of DAG to PKC0 is important for the activation of

NF κ B through the MALT1/Carma1/BCL10 complex and leads to increased cell survival and production of T helper cytokines (45, 49). PKC θ also promotes the functions of the Ras-GRPs, which in turn leads to the AKT and MEK pathways. Upon binding to DAG, Ras-GRP combines with Sos, which binds to as well as activates Ras (49). Ras in turn targets the Raf-1/MEK/Erk pathway which has been shown to lead to increased AKT/mTOR function (47). Furthermore, phosphorylated ERK also leads to AP-1 activation (50), and allows for the cooperative binding of AP-1 and NFAT to the promoter sites of cytokines such as IL-2 (49, 51). This is thus one method by which the IP₃ and DAG signaling arms combine to initiate the "activated" status of an immune cell.

NK cell responsiveness – A concert of inhibition and activation

NK cell activation is therefore formed by the synergy between the inhibitory and activating receptors. Two potential scenarios can explain how an NK cell might target a cell for killing. Firstly, a target cell might experience an increase in activation ligand expression, like a rapidly dividing tumor cell that increases its expression of Rae1. The NKG2D receptor on a surveying NK cell would thus recognize this increase in NK cell activation signals, and respond against the tumor. Alternatively, the loss of MHC class I on a herpes virus infected cell would be seen as a decrease in inhibitory signals on the NK cell, and would therefore also evoke a response.

To recognize this fluctuation in either inhibitory or activating receptor signaling, NK cells must therefore calibrate signaling according to some baseline equilibrium. The system of calibration should include the following components:

A) Enable an NK cell to understand how many inhibitory and activating receptors it expresses at baseline.

B) Be flexible enough to accommodate inhibitory and activating receptors that may never see ligand (e.g. an inhibitory receptor for a different MHC haplotype).C) Be able to shut down any potential for autoimmunity, like an NK cell that does not express any inhibitory receptors.

Thus, we arrive at a fundamental disagreement that is still evolving in the NK cell field today. It is accepted that NK cells tune their responsiveness according to their environments. This idea is supported by numerous observations:

1) NK cells that express more inhibitory receptors that recognize self-MHC are more responsive than those that have fewer. (52).

2) NK cells from MHC Class I deficient backgrounds are less responsive than WT controls. However, transferring NK cells from a MHC class I deficient environment to a WT environment restores their responsiveness (53, 54).

3) NK cells that have lost SHP-1 or SHIP signaling are less likely to respond than their WT counterparts (24, 30, 55).

However, the mechanism behind this tuning is still not understood. Two major approaches to tuning have been proposed: Arming versus disarming

NK cell tuning – Arming versus disarming

NK cell arming proposes that when an NK cell that expresses an inhibitory receptor that recognizes self-MHC Class I, it receives a final maturation signal and becomes functionally competent. In this process, a negative signal somehow promotes the final maturation of an NK cell (56). This observation is supported by the phenomenon, henceforth referred to as "licensing", where an NK cell that expresses an inhibitory receptor for self MHC is more likely to respond than one that does not (57). An additional subclass of the arming phenomenon suggests that it is induced by cis interactions with self MHC on the same NK cell itself (58).

In contrast, NK cell disarming is the idea that NK cells are capable of killing targets as soon as they exit development. However, when faced with unopposed activating signals, they are disarmed and maintain an "anergic" like state. This hypothesis is supported by experiments where WT NK cells were transferred into MHC Class I deficient hosts(53) became less responsive than those that were transferred into WT hosts.

While these ideas are not necessarily mutually exclusive, the debate over NK cell tuning has not abated, especially because of increasing interest in using NK cells as a therapeutic tool.

NK cells in the clinic

The ability of NK cells to target virally-infected and neoplastic cells has led to major interest in using them for therapy. Early trials have shown safety and preliminary efficacy in NK cell-based adoptive immunotherapy to treat hematological malignancies (59). More recently, researchers have focused on methods to improve NK function *in vivo*. These approaches can broadly be divided into three categories: 1) expansion and activation of autologous NK cells to improve their responsiveness (60); 2) by mismatching of ligand expression on patient cells to killer immunoglobulin-like receptor (KIR) expression on donor NK cells (61); and 3) genetic or molecular augmentation of NK cell signaling machinery in donor cells (62).

However, with our latest understanding of NK cell tuning, it is reasonable to assume that the NK cells used in therapy may end up being unresponsive as they adapt to their environments. Indeed, multiple early trials have shown limited long-term efficacy of activated NK cells in the treatment of patients (63, 64). While many potential explanations exist for their failure as a therapy, the need to understand the mechanism behind NK cell tuning or the ability to circumvent this phenomenon will still be relevant to improving therapeutic outcomes. Thus, the rest of this thesis will be broadly divided into three sections – In chapter two, I will attempt to further dissect the potential differences between the arming and disarming hypothesis. Chapter three will cover an investigation into circumventing tuning by targeting a distal regulator of signaling, diacylglycerol

kinase zeta (DGK ζ). The last chapter shall be a discussion of future directions that can be derived from this body of work.

CHAPTER 2: NK cells tune their proximal signaling pathways in response to changes in MHC Class I Expression

Introduction

Initially, researchers hypothesized that the lack of inhibitory ligand for NK cells in MHC class I deficient mice would either prevent the development of NK cells, or predispose them toward causing autoimmunity in vivo. To date, three major models of mice lacking MHC Class I expression exist: beta-2-microglobulin deficient (B2M KO), Tap1 deficient (TAP1 KO), and H2-K^b/H2-D^b doubly deficient mice (KbDb DKO). In general, MHC Class I is assembled in the ER as a heterodimer of a polymorphic heavy chain and the light chain B2M. The association between the chains is fairly loose, but can be stabilized by the loading of a peptide into the binding cleft by the protein Tap(8). Thus, B2M KO and Tap1 KO deficient mice are low in surface expression of many classical and non-classical MHC Class I molecules (65, 66). In contrast, KbDb DKO mice have a targeted mutation to prevent expression of the heavy chains of the classical MHC Class I molecules which are encoded by the H-2 locus (67). They therefore lack surface expression of classical MHC Class I but can still express nonclassical molecules. All three mice models have normal NK cell numbers, but no overt NK immunopathology, which came as a surprise to NK cell biologists.

The next series of experiments demonstrated that the NK cells from B2M deficient mice were less likely to kill MHC class I deficient blasts as compared to WT NK cells (68, 69). These studies confirmed that NK cell function was instructed by class I MHC molecules. Further research indicated that this education was conducted by cells from both the radioresistant as well as hematopoietic lineages (70). This conclusion was backed by a study on mismatched allogeneic chimeras, which also suggested that NK cells become tolerant of cells from both host and donor bone marrow origin (71). One potential trivial explanation for all these observations would be that NK cells from these mice were not expressing the correct activating receptors, and therefore could not kill their targets. This hypothesis was rejected when mice that expressed a transgenic form of the viral MCMV protein m157 (m157-tg) were found to have NK cells expressing the Ly49H receptor, which recognizes m157. Furthermore, the data from this study showed that the Ly49H cells were hyporesponsive to activating signals from both Ly49H as well as NK1.1, and resulted in susceptibility to MCMV infection. In contrast, the Ly49H- cells were similar to WT controls in responding to stimuli (72, 73). This indicated that only the NK cells that were self-reactive were tuning.

However, inhibitory signals are not just important for downregulation of NK cell self-reactivity. They have also been found to increase NK cell activation. As mentioned in chapter 1, the key finding in this regard was the observation of NK cell licensing, where NK cells that expressed a self-binding inhibitory receptor
were more likely to produce cytokine and, in one experiment, kill target cells as compared to NK cells that did not have an inhibitory receptor for self (57).

More recently, studies also showed that NK cell tuning was not restricted to development, as NK cells were able to increase or decrease their responsiveness according to the changes in the MHC Class I environment surrounding them (53, 54). Further hints to the NK cell tolerance process came in the form of a study by Sun and Lanier, which suggested that the tuning mechanism in NK cells relied on an unstable form of equilibrium. They found that viral infection was sufficient to break tolerance mechanisms (74) in mixed chimeras made from WT and MHC Class I deficient cells, which resulted in rejection of the MHC Class I deficient donor cells in a chimeric situation that was previously stable. This data was later reinforced by another paper which found that cytokine treatment was sufficient to reverse NK cell anergy (4).

Hence, unlike adaptive cells that undergo a selection process that eliminates highly self-reactive cells, NK cells seem to avoid causing autoimmune pathology by tuning their responsiveness. While the studies listed above have been illuminating, they fail to address the mechanism behind NK cell tuning. Specifically, all the studies involving mixed bone marrow chimeras with MHC class I deficient cells have failed to address if there were baseline differences between the cells from MHC Class I deficient, or MHC class I sufficient origin (70, 74). Indeed, in the data from those papers, mice with mixed bone marrow donors showed some residual activity against MHC Class I deficient cells (70). In light of reports that the tolerance in mixed chimeras can be broken by viral infection, it is

potentially possible that this "tolerance" could be a game of numbers, where enough class I deficient cells are being produced for WT NK cells to kill without affecting the MHC class I deficient HSCs.

Another interesting dimension to the phenomenon of NK tuning was discovered in the report describing licensing by Kim et al (57). In a surprising twist, they also suggested that SHP-1, a major phosphatase downstream of the inhibitory receptors, was not involved in licensing. While their data was statistically sound, their approach stood out due to a major caveat. They used NK cells from the motheaten viable (me^v) mouse, which has germline defects in SHP-1 function. Given the ability of NK cells to tune rapidly, as well as their expression of multiple phosphatases (SHP-1, SHP2 and SHIP), it is conceivable that NK cells from these germline deficient mice were already tuned to the loss of SHP-1. Furthermore, the me^v mouse has major inflammatory syndromes due to the loss of SHP-1 in multiple immune cell lineages, which could complicate the interpretation of said result (75, 76).

Thus, I was interested in investigating the mechanisms of tuning in MHC Class I deficient NK cells, and more specifically examining the role of SHP-1 in NK cell licensing.

Results

Ly49C binds to MHC Class I in Cis and licenses NK cells in C57/BL6 mice

In order to study tuning in NK cells, I first wanted to confirm the previous reports of licensing. Thus, I attempted to identify Ly49C⁺ NK cells in B6 mice. A commercially available antibody for Ly49C/I was reported to largely stain for Ly49I (77), and therefore I tried staining using a monoclonal anti-Ly49C antibody (4LO-3311). The initial protocols I tested gave rise to an unexpected result, where Ly49C stained more distinctly in MHC class I deficient cells than WT cells (Fig. 1A). One potential explanation for the difference was that cis binding of MHC Class I to Ly49C on WT NK cells was preventing binding of the 4LO-3311 antibody (78). To test if there was masking of the epitope, I therefore stripped the WT NK cells of MHC Class I using an acidic buffer. The buffer was able to remove surface MHC Class I from a majority (>90%) of WT NK cells (Fig. 1B, top). I found that stripping off MHC Class I from the surface of WT NK cells was sufficient to improve the Ly49C stain (Fig. 1B, bottom).

In the interest of stimulating NK cells without resorting to acidic treatments, I tested other staining protocols for Ly49C. Eventually, using a different staining method, I was able to reliably identify Ly49C⁺ NK cells in a WT C57/BL6 mouse (Fig 1C). Utilizing this protocol, I was also able to show that WT Ly49C⁺ NK cells were not only more likely than Ly49C⁻ NK cells to produce

cytokine, but they also had an increased tendency to degranulate *in vitro* as well (Fig. 1, D and E).

To confirm that licensing in WT Ly49C⁺ NK cells was due to interactions with MHC Class I ligand, I stimulated NK cells from MHC Class I deficient mice. Similar to previously published data, I showed that in MHC class I deficient mice, Ly49C expression did not appear to increase the likelihood of NK cells to degranulate (Fig. 2A). Similar trends were also observed for cytokine production (data not shown). Additionally, through these experiments I also confirmed that MHC Class I deficient cells had a trend toward decreased responsiveness as compared to WT controls (Fig. 2, A-C). However, the differences between WT controls and B2M KO mice were abrogated when the cells were stimulated with PMA and lonomycin (Fig 2, D and E).

NK cells are acutely dependent on SHP-1 concentration

I was now ready to proceed to investigate the role of SHP-1 in licensing mature NK cells. I analyzed a mouse that had inducible deletion of floxed alleles of SHP-1 using the ER-CreT2 system to delete floxed alleles of SHP-1. As a control, I treated both a WT B6 mouse, as well as a heterozygous SHP-1 floxed ER-CreT2 mouse. Unexpectedly, we still observed a major defect in NK cell function in these mice (Fig. 3) despite an overall short course of gene deletion. Based on the preliminary results, each allele of SHP-1 deleted saw the difference

in responsiveness between Ly49C⁺ and Ly49C⁻ NK cells appear to decrease (Fig 3). The most surprising finding was that NK cell responses were severely affected even in the SHP-1 heterozygous mouse, suggesting haploinsufficiency was occurring (Fig 3, middle row).

NK cell tuning may have both cell intrinsic and cell extrinsic components

Looking at these data, it suggested that mature NK cells could still alter their licensing status. However, I wanted to utilize a different model to see if the difference between licensed Ly49C⁺ and unlicensed Ly49C⁻NK cells was actually developmentally independent. Thus, I turned to the adoptive transfer model that was previously reported (53). In concordance with published work, I found that the WT NK cells were indeed reducing their responsiveness in a MHC class I deficient background as compared to WT control hosts (Fig. 4, A and B). However, the percentage yield of adoptively transferred cells was small (Fig. 4C), and made it technically unfeasible to determine the differences between the Ly49C⁺ and Ly49C⁻NK cells.

I proceeded to investigate if tuning, licensing or both were cell intrinsic. I made mixed chimeras using bone marrow from WT and MHC Class I deficient donors. Initially, I made mixed chimeras using WT and B2M KO cells, but was surprised to find that in these mixed chimeras, cells from the B2M KO background appeared to increase in H2-K^b expression (Fig 4D). The preliminary

results also showed that the NK cells of B2M KO origin in these chimeras did not have a difference in responsiveness than those of WT origin (Fig. 4E). I therefore turned to the K^bD^b DKO mice, but was unable to get reliable engraftment of cells from the K^bD^b DKO background to perform the analysis on licensed versus unlicensed cells (Fig. 4F). Statistical analysis on total NK cell responses indicated that there was no difference between any of the groups (Fig. 4G).

Discussion

In this chapter, I attempted to uncover the mechanisms underlying NK cell licensing and tuning. I found that the Ly49C receptor on WT B6 NK cells binds to MHC Class I in cis, consistent with data showing that Ly49A also binds to H2-D^d in cis in transgenic D^d mice (58). I showed that the Ly49C receptor licenses NK cells in mice on a C57/BL6 background, not only in terms of cytokine production, but also their ability to degranulate. Furthermore, in attempting to determine the molecular basis of NK cell licensing, I found that deletion of a single SHP-1 allele was sufficient to profoundly affect mature NK cell responsiveness. My data show that using B2M KO cells in a mixed environment restores a low level of expression of MHC class I molecules on their surface.

Previous reports of the NK cell inhibitory receptor binding MHC Class I in cis have specifically targeted Ly49A, and showed using multiple mutant forms of Ly49A that a flexible stalk region was required for cis binding (79). The cis binding ability of the other Ly49s was postulated in numerous papers due similarities in their crystal structures, but there has not been an association of any of the other Ly49s with their cognate MHC Class I reported (78, 80). The binding of the Ly49 receptors to cognate MHC Class I molecules in cis requires the same binding site as trans binding (79). Initially this was shown to be an important step in regulating the responsiveness of self-recognizing NK cells by sequestering excess inhibitory receptor (81). However, a recent article also showed that cis binding was necessary for the receptor based education of NK

cells but dispensable for the actual inhibition of NK cell function (58). In a somewhat serendipitous fashion, my initial failure to distinctly stain for Ly49C has provided more support for the association of Ly49C with MHC Class I molecules in cis, and thus indirectly supports its role in educating NK cells on a C57/BL6 background.

Further validation of the role of Ly49C in educating NK cells, was in confirmation that Ly49C⁺ NK cells from WT mice were licensed. The phenomenon of licensing is thought to be a compensatory mechanism for NK cells expressing self-recognizing inhibitory receptor to be able to activate against other cells with mismatched self MHC ligand appropriately (82). Additionally, most of the data regarding licensed NK cells has focused on IFN_γ production (57), while details regarding its effect on degranulation are not as well appreciated. Indeed, Ly49C⁺ NK cells from a WT C57/BL6 mouse were shown to be able to produce more cytokine in the aforementioned study. In comparison, another study found that degranulation of licensed versus unlicensed NK cells was too unstable to report significant differences (52). My data demonstrate that degranulation is also more likely in a licensed Ly49C⁺ NK cell, and that this difference is abrogated upon the loss of inhibitory receptor ligand.

These experiments were performed with the aim to study the molecular mechanism behind licensing, and one key approach that I had in mind was to acutely deplete SHP-1 from NK cells. Previous studies on the role of inhibitory phosphatases either utilized germline deficient mice, or a mouse that expressed

a Cre driven by the NKp46 promoter, neither of which would rule out developmental defects. Furthermore, the NK cells that had lost SHP-1 would also have plenty of time to tune if possible. Thus, they all arrived at similar conclusions, that NK cells lacking inhibitory phosphatases SHP-1 or SHIP were hyporesponsive (24, 30, 55, 75). By utilizing an ER-CreT2 system, my goal was to reduce the potential for inflammatory disease to occur (as compared to the me^{v} mouse), reduce the time allowed for NK cells to retune their function, as well as bypass potential developmental requirements for SHP-1 in NK cell function. Surprisingly, I found that the deletion of a single allele of SHP-1 was sufficient to induce NK cells into a hypofunctional state, which suggests that NK cells are acutely sensitive to the concentration of SHP-1. Due to this technical limitation, it remains to be seen if SHP-1 is involved in licensing. However, my preliminary data suggests that it could be a possibility, as loss of two alleles appeared to diminish the difference between Ly49C⁺ and Ly49C⁻ NK cells more than loss of a single allele. Regardless, the sensitivity of NK cells to SHP-1 loss could be an important finding for clinical purposes, both in terms of the potential effects of genetic variation, as well as in the context of therapies attempting to target inhibitory phosphatase activity in NK cells.

The final thrust of this chapter was a study into whether licensing or tuning could be driven by developmentally independent or cell intrinsic factors. In the case of the former adoptive transfer model, I was able to recapitulate previous results, but was unable to examine the different NK cell subsets due to small return of cells. The latter question was also bogged down by technical difficulties,

as data from the mixed chimeras proved to be hard to analyze convincingly. The increase in H2-K^b expression on B2M KO cells could be explained by trogocytosis of MHC Class I by the Ly49 receptors on NK cells. However, the enhancement in expression of H2-K^b was observed in other immune cells of the B2M KO background, including CD3e⁺ T cells (data not shown). One other explanation for the low level of H2-K^b expression by the B2M KO cells is the passive acquisition of B2M by the donor cells from either WT competitor bone marrow or the surrounding WT host cells. Regardless, this increase in surface MHC Class I expression is concerning, as many experimental results in the literature with similar mixed chimeric or adoptive transfer situations have utilized B2M KO animals and cells, potentially coloring some of the interpretations in these reports (53, 54, 70). The increase in H2-K^b expression on the B2M KO cells could also explain my data showing no difference in NK responsiveness between the WT competitor and B2M KO derived cells. The recovery of H2-K^b on the surface of NK cells could potentially aid in their tuning, or perhaps even be sufficient for licensing these NK cells, thereby restoring their functionality.

Unlike the data from B2M KO mixed chimeras, the chimeras made using WT and KbDb DKO mixed donor bone marrow showed a trend suggesting that full functional maturation of NK cells may require MHC Class I on both the NK cells themselves as well as on host non-hematopoietic cells. As expected, the largest difference in mean was observed between the WT NK cells in the WT host and the KbDb DKO NK cells in the KbDb DKO host. However, the variable rates of reconstitution, and the high variability in the data from the *in vitro*

stimulation would preclude making any conclusions from these data alone. One possibility to explain the variability in engraftment is the location of the animal housing facility used by the lab. As mentioned in the introduction, viral infection has been shown to break NK cell tolerance mechanisms. The animal facility, while maintained as an SPF facility, could have variable rates of normally benign infections. To solve this quandary, it may either require a cleaner facility than our lab currently has access to, or placing our chimeras on some form of prophylactic treatment against infections.

In summary, these results have merely skimmed the surface of the mechanism of tuning, and highlighted the technical difficulties of working with the MHC Class I deficient models in NK cells. Far more work remains to be done, and I shall discuss this in further detail in chapter 4.

Figures



Figure 1: Ly49C binds to MHC Class I in cis, and increases NK cell responsiveness in C57/BL6 mice

A) WT NK cells were either stained with a full minus one (FMO) control or a fluorochrome-conjugated Ly49C (4LO-3311) antibody (WT). NK cells from a B2M KO were also stained with the Ly49C antibody as part of the experiment (far right). Data is representative of 2 separate experiments, N= 2. B) WT splenocytes were treated with an acid buffer and their NK cells were stained for the presence of MHC Class I and Ly49C (right column). Untreated cells were stained as a negative control (left column). Data is representative of at least 3 separate experiments. C) WT NK cells were incubated with Ly49C supernatant followed by a fluorochrome-conjugated secondary antibody. Data shown is representative of at least 2 separate experiments. WT splenocytes were stimulated with platebound anti-NK1.1, and the ability of Ly49C⁺ NK cells or Ly49C⁻ NK cells to D) degranulate and E) produce IFNg in response was measured. N = 5, Data shown is pooled from at least 3 separate experiments.





A) NK cells from WT (left) or KbDb^{-/-} (right) hosts were stimulated using platebound anti-NK1.1 and gated on either all NK cells (first and third column), or Ly49C⁺ versus Ly49C⁻ NK cells (second and fourth columns). The propensity of each subset to degranulate was measured by the incorporation of an anti-CD107a antibody. Data shown is representative of 2 independent experiments, N=2. Splenocytes from WT or B2M^{-/-} mice were stimulated with platebound anti-NK1.1 and the ability of NK cells to B) degranulate and C) produce IFNg was measured via flow cytometery. Data is from 4 independent experiments, N = 4. Percentage of NK cells that D) degranulated and E) produced IFNg after stimulation with PMA and lonomycin as controls in the experiments from B) and C). N=3.





A WT C57/BL6, a heterozygous ER-CreT2/SHP-1 floxed (SHP1^{F/+}) and a homozygous ER-CreT2/SHP-1 floxed (SHP1^{F/F}) mouse were treated with tamoxifen to induce deletion of the floxed alleles in mature NK cells. 5 days after the end of treatment, splenocytes were harvested and stimulated with either platebound anti-NK1.1, or PMA and lonomycin (far right). The ability of Ly49C⁺ NK cells, Ly49C⁻ NK cells, or all NK cells (all NK) to degranulate was analyzed by flow cytometery. N=1



Figure 4: Expression of MHC Class I in cis and trans is important for NK cell tuning.

WT NK cells were adoptively transferred into sublethally irradiated WT or KbDb^{-/-} hosts. 7 days post transfer, NK cells were stimulated with platebound anti-NK1.1 antibody, and the percentage of donor NK cells that A) degranulated or B) produced IFNg is shown as a dot plot. C) Graphical representation of WT donor percentages in the NK cell compartment for the experiments from A) and B). Data shown is pooled from 2 independent experiments, N=8. D) WT and B2M^{-/-} donor bone marrow were mixed at a 1:1 ratio and injected into WT hosts. The expression of H2-K^b on NK cells of B2M^{-/-} origin in the mixed bone marrow chimera (right), on WT, or on B2M KO control NK cells are shown (left and center). Data is representative of 2 independent experiments, N=4. E) Splenocytes from WT and B2M^{-/-} mixed bone marrow chimeras from D) were stimulated using platebound anti-NK1.1 antibody, and the percentage of NK cells of WT or B2M^{-/-} origin that responded by degranulating is depicted as a scatter plot. Data is pooled from 2 independent experiments, N=4. F) WT or KbDb^{/-} lethally irradiated hosts were injected with a 1:1 mixture of WT and KbDb^{/-} bone marrow to create mixed bone marrow chimeras. The fraction of NK cells of WT or KbDb^{/-} origin in each chimera is represented as a scatter plot. G) Splenocytes from the mixed bone marrow chimeras from F) were stimulated with platebound anti-NK1.1 antibody, and the fraction of cells that responded by degranulating is depicted as a scatter plot. Data is pooled from 2 independent experiments, N= 6 or 10 per group.

CHAPTER 3: Diacylglycerol kinase zeta negatively regulates NK cell function

Introduction

As seen from the data from chapter 2 (Fig. 2, D and E, Fig. 3), as well as in the published literature, increasing NK cell function by targeting an inhibitory phosphatase paradoxically results in less responsive NK cells (24, 30, 55). One potential explanation is that removing a negative regulator of signaling from NK cells obstructs their function. Alternatively, it is possible that loss of the inhibitory receptor signaling pathway induces NK cells to tune and reduce their responsiveness. A third, non-mutually exclusive explanation is that altering the proximal signaling pathway triggers NK cell hyporesponsiveness. To shed some light on these hypotheses, I decided to target a negative regulator of signaling that was downstream of the activating pathway instead.

As mentioned in chapter 1, manipulation of NK cell activating receptormediated signaling is complicated by the variety of signaling modules utilized by NK cell activating receptors. Previous attempts at examining the role of proximal activating signals in NK cells have involved extensive effort, often with conflicting results (22, 83). Fortunately, the distal activation pathway of all the receptors converge upon SLP-76 and PLCγ. NK cells that lack either of these signaling molecules are hyporesponsive to all three groups (ITAM, SAP, YNIM) of activating receptor stimulation (23, 32). The formation of DAG downstream of PLC_{γ} activation is an important secondary messenger that triggers activation of the AKT, MEK and NF_{κ}B pathways. After the activation of an immune cell, one major pathway for the removal of excess DAG from the signal cascade entails its phosphorylation into phosphatidic acid (PA). This reaction is catalyzed by a family of enzymes known as the Diacylglycerol Kinases (DGKs) (49, 84).

The family of DGKs consists of ten different proteins that all share the common substrate DAG. They express a common catalytic domain that enables them to phosphorylate DAG and perform their function. However, the ten DGKs are further subdivided into five classes according to the other domains that they contain. These additional domains are crucial to the differences in cellular localization and activation of each DGK; For example, Type I DGKs have a calcium sensitive domain, while type II DGKs have domains that can interact with inositol's (85). Most tissue types express multiple DGKs, but in lymphocytes, only three DGKs have been reported: DGK α , DGK δ , and DGK ζ . The function of DGK δ in lymphocytes is unclear, but multiple roles for DGK α and DGK ζ have been reported in the literature (45). As a type I DGK, DGK α expresses a calcium sensitive recoverin homology domain, and its activity is thought to be controlled by calcium flux in the cell. In comparison, DGK⁽, a type IV DGK, expresses domains that enable it to interact with trafficking proteins and translocate to the plasma membrane (84).

Both DGK α and DGK ζ have been extensively studied in the context of T cell signaling. Indeed, T cells lacking either form of DGK have enhanced ERK activation downstream of the TCR(86), experience hyperproliferation and are less likely to become anergic (87). More specifically, DGK α has been shown to regulate a DAG gradient at the cell-cell interface, which is important for the polarization of the MTOC and formation of multivesicular bodies (88, 89). In comparison, DGK ζ is important for determining the overall threshold of T cell activation, by converting an analog signal (receptor ligand interactions) to a digital response(86, 90). In line with these findings, DGK ζ deficient CD8⁺ T cells are more likely to produce cytokine, and become effector memory cells upon viral challenge. Developmentally, both iNKT and T cell selection is impaired in mice lacking both forms of DGK (91, 92), and increased regulatory T cell selection in DGK ζ KO mice has been reported by a previous graduate student in our lab (48).

Other than T cells, the loss of DGK^c has also been studied in other immune cell types like macrophages and mast cells. In contrast to its negative regulatory role in T lymphocytes, DGK^c deficiency in macrophages results in reduced cytokine production, and impaired responses to infection by *Toxoplasma gondii* (46). Similarly, DGK^c KO mast cells also show decreased function *in vivo*, and a decreased tendency to degranulate upon stimulation with IgE *in vitro*.

While DAG metabolism and function has not been studied in NK cells, one clue to the importance of DAG signaling is that the NK cells can be activated by phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) and ionomycin stimulation. In fact, PMA

and ionomycin has been shown to overcome the hyporesponsive NK cell phenotype (Fig. 3) (23, 30, 32). Given that PMA and ionomycin mimic PLC γ activation by acting as a diacylglycerol (DAG) analog and inducing Ca²⁺ flux respectively, these data suggest that NK signal tuning occurs proximal to PLC γ activation. Thus, I hypothesized that targeting an enzyme that negatively regulates activating receptor-mediated signaling distal to PLC γ would not allow NK cells to tune to their increased signaling capacity and hence, make NK cells hyperresponsive to activating receptor stimulation.

In this chapter, I provide data that indicates genetic ablation of DGK ζ , a negative regulator of DAG-mediated signaling, leads to hyperresponsive NK cells in a cell-intrinsic and developmentally-independent manner. Thus, enzymes that negatively regulate distal activating receptor signaling pathways such as DGK ζ may represent novel targets for augmenting the therapeutic potential of NK cells.

Results

DGKζ-deficient NK cells are hyperresponsive to activating receptor stimulation in an NK cell-intrinsic and developmentally independent manner

NK cells from WT and DGK ζ KO mice were stimulated through multiple cell surface activating receptors. Notably, the development of NK cells was largely similar between WT and DGK ζ KO mice with regards to inhibitory receptor expression, activating receptor expression, and maturity (Fig. 5 A-C). Upon activation through three distinct activating receptor families (ITAM-dependent: NK1.1, Ly49D; costimulatory-like: NKG2D; SAP-dependent: 2B4), an increased fraction of DGK ζ KO NK cells degranulated and produced IFN γ compared to WT NK cells (Fig. 5D, 5E). Importantly, IFN γ production downstream of cytokine activation (IL-12 + IL-18) or by PMA/ionomycin was similar between DGK ζ KO mice treated with Poly I:C, which mimics a viral infection and primes NK cell responses through type I interferons (Fig. 5G). Thus, DGK ζ deficiency enhances NK cell function even in an inflammatory environment.

In T cells, both DGK ζ and DGK α deficiency have been reported to enhance signals downstream of the TCR (86). Thus I wanted to see if DGK α KO NK cells were also more likely to respond to stimulation with platebound antibody. I found that DGK α KO NK cells were as likely to respond to stimulation

as WT controls, suggesting that DGKζ had a larger role to play in NK cell activation (Fig. 6).

In order to test if DGK ζ KO NK cells were indeed more likely to respond to actual target cells, I wanted to directly examine their cytotoxicity capabilities. Thus, WT and DGK ζ KO NK cells were expanded in IL-2 to create lymphokine-activated killer (LAK) cells. Similar to freshly isolated NK cells, an increased proportion of DGK ζ KO LAKs degranulated and produced IFN γ upon activating receptor stimulation (Fig. 7A). Moreover, this correlated with an increased ability of DGK ζ KO LAKs to kill and produce IFN γ upon co-culture with the NK cell-sensitive tumor cell line, YAC-1 (Fig. 7B, 7C).

Since DGK ζ KO mice display increased activation in multiple hematopoietic lineages, it was conceivable that the hyperresponsive phenotype of NK cells was not NK cell-intrinsic. To test this possibility, bone marrow (BM) chimeric mice were created by BM transplantation of WT competitor BM mixed with WT control or DGK ζ KO BM. Upon stimulation of NK cells from these mice, NK cells in the WT competitor/WT control BM chimeric mice were similarly responsive, while NK cells of DGK ζ KO origin in the WT competitor/DGK ζ KO BM chimeras were significantly more responsive than the WT competitor controls (Fig. 8A, 8B). Next, to test whether the hyperresponsive phenotype of DGK ζ KO NK cells was independent of altered NK cell development, I acutely deleted DGK ζ from NK cells using a Tamoxifen-inducible Cre (Cre-ERT2) system. NK

cells from Tamoxifen-treated mice bearing floxed alleles of DGK ζ were more responsive to activating receptor stimulation than Cre⁺ WT controls (Fig. 8C, 8D). Together, these data suggest that DGK ζ deficiency enhances NK cell responsiveness to activating receptor stimuli in an NK cell-intrinsic and developmentally independent manner.

DGKζ KO NK cells are hyperresponsive secondary to enhanced DAG signaling and ERK activation

DGK ζ is thought to remove DAG from the activation signaling pathway. In other immune cells, DAG can activate at least 3 distinct downstream signaling pathways: ERK, AKT, and NF_KB. To test which of these pathways are activated in NK cells downstream of DAG, I stimulated NK cells with PMA alone and examined the activation of these 3 signaling pathways. In line with previous reports, PMA activation resulted in large increase phosphorylation of ERK (pERK), AKT (pAKT) and IkB α (pIkB α) in T cells. In comparison, NK cells stimulated with PMA had a similarly large increase in pERK, but a more modest increase in pAKT or pIkBa levels. suggesting that DAG more selectively activates the ERK signaling pathway in NK cells (Fig. 9A, 9B). Consistent with this finding, anti-NK1.1 antibody-stimulated DGK ζ KO NK cells displayed increased levels of pERK with no difference in pAKT or IkB degradation compared to WT NK cells (Fig. 9 C-E). Next, to test whether the enhancement in pERK was responsible for the increased function of DGKζ KO NK cells, I treated anti-NK1.1 antibody-activated NK cells with the MEK inhibitor U0126. The degranulation of WT NK cells was inhibited by U0126 in a dose-dependent manner, suggesting that pERK was important for NK cell degranulation. Although DGKζ KO NK cells were also inhibited by U0126 in a dose-dependent manner, they required higher levels of U0126 to attenuate their ability to degranulate (Fig. 9F). Together with increased pERK activation, these data suggest that that the enhanced responsiveness of DGKζ KO NK cells was secondary to augmented pERK levels.

DGKζ KO NK cells are licensed and exhibit increased clearance of TAP-deficient tumor cells *in vivo*.

One unique function of NK cells is their ability to recognize reduced MHC class I expression (missing self) on target cells through their inhibitory receptors. To test whether DGKζ deficiency affected the function of inhibitory receptors, I first stimulated WT or DGKζ KO NK cells with either anti-NK1.1, or a combination of anti-NK1.1 and anti-Ly49G2. As expected, NK cells that did not express the Ly49G2 receptor were not inhibited by the addition of the anti-Ly49G2 antibody. In contrast, Ly49G2 expressing NK cells were less likely to respond to anti-NK1.1 upon the addition of anti-Ly49G2 antibody. More importantly, the % inhibition by the stimulation of the inhibitory Ly49G2 receptor was similar between WT and

DGK ζ KO NK cells, suggesting that DGK ζ deficiency did not affect inhibitory receptor function. To further test this hypothesis, I examined whether DGK ζ KO NK cells displayed intact licensing, a process in which an NK cell that expresses an inhibitory receptor for self-MHC I (e.g., Ly49C in B6 mice) is more likely to respond than one that does not. Both WT and DGK ζ KO NK cells that expressed Ly49C⁺ were more likely to respond to activating receptor stimulation than their Ly49C⁻ counterparts, suggesting that licensing and therefore inhibitory receptor signaling was intact in these mice. Additionally, both Ly49C⁺ and Ly49C⁻ DGK ζ KO NK cells were hyperresponsive compared to their WT subset counterparts, suggesting that licensing the transmission of NK cell hyperreponsiveness in DGK ζ KO mice (Fig. 10 A and B).

Another potential explanation for the increase in responsiveness in DGKζ KO NK cells is that they fail to tune correctly. To test this hypothesis, I adoptively transferred both WT and DGKζ KO NK cells into sublethally irradiated WT and MHC Class I deficient hosts. Like WT cells, the DGKζ KO NK cells in the MHC Class I deficient host were less responsive than those in the WT hosts (Fig, 10C).

To test whether the enhanced NK cell function led to better anti-tumor responses *in vivo*, I tested the ability of DGKζ KO mice to clear a TAP-deficient (MHC I low) tumor. RMA (TAP-sufficient) and RMA-S (TAP-deficient) tumor cells were differentially labeled and injected at a 1:3 ratio into WT or DGKζ KO hosts. 18 hours after injection into hosts, RMA-S cells are preferentially killed by NK cells, leading to a decreased RMA-S:RMA ratio. Despite harboring a reduced

number of NK cells (data not shown), the RMA-S:RMA ratio was significantly reduced in DGK ζ KO compared to WT mice, suggesting that DGK ζ KO NK cells were better at clearing tumor cells than WT NK cells (Fig. 10D).

Discussion

The ability of NK cells to quickly tune their activation threshold to the environment has been a major obstacle in maintaining the functionality of NK cells for clinical purposes. NK cells that lack enzymes that negatively regulate proximal signaling pathways (SHP-1 and SHIP) tune their responsiveness, which results in NK cells with diminished function (24, 30). Similarly, NK cells subjected to an MHC I-deficient environment also leads to hyporesponsiveness (4). In each of these situations, NK cells are normally responsive to PMA and ionomycin, suggesting that the tuning process occurs upstream of PLC γ activation. My data support a model where NK cell tuning acts proximal to the generation of DAG, suggesting that therapeutic targeting of distal negative regulators of NK cell activation can be a means for improving clinical efficacy. In particular, my data from this chapter illustrates that DGKZ is one example of a distal negative regulator in NK cells that can be targeted to improve NK cell responses, likely through the enhancement of ERK signals downstream of the activating receptors (Fig, 11). These data combined support the data from T lymphocytes indicating that the DGKs attenuate responses through the TCR.

One piece of data that came as a surprise was that DGK α deficiency did not affect the functionality of NK cells. Given previous reports that DGK ζ and DGK α are important in T cells, I predicted that DGK α loss would also have enhanced NK cell function. However, a previous report demonstrated that

DGK ζ had a dominant role in restraining T cell activation compared to DGK α , which could account for the difference in phenotype(86). Additionally, DGK α has been shown to be calcium dependent (84), and perhaps the relatively short assay used in a majority of this chapter may not be sufficient to capture the phenotype of DGK α NK cells. Furthermore, DGK α is known to play a much larger role in maintaining the polarization of the T cell immune synapse. It would therefore be logical hypothesize that it might play similar roles in NK cells as well. If so, testing the ability of DGK α cells to form conjugates with target cells and deliver lytic granules to their intended targets could prove to be more enlightening. In particular, NK cells have been shown to serially kill targets. One might predict that the loss of DGK α could have repercussions on the activity of serial killers.

One of the objectives of my studies was to understand the underlying biochemistry that was affected by the loss of DGK^ζ in NK cells. In particular I wanted to test if the functions of DGK^ζ in NK cells was through its modulation of DAG metabolism. Preliminary retroviral transduction studies appear to suggest that mutating the kinase domain of DGK^ζ affected its ability to restrict NK cell responses, however, the intermediate phenotype of the kinase dead DGK^ζ mutant as compared to the empty vector and WT DGK controls gave me reason to consider the potential for other functions of DGK^ζ (Appendix I). I thus wanted to see if I could biochemically assay for the components of the DGK reaction with DAG. Due to the many different potential acyl chains on DAG, direct measurement of DAG levels in cells is a process that has yet to be optimized for

primary cells (93). Instead, I attempted to test a commercially available protocol for measuring total PA levels, with the prediction that compared to WT LAKs, DGKζ deficient LAKs would have decreased production of PA downstream of activation signals. Unfortunately, I was unable to show that there was any formation of phosphatidic acid downstream of receptor stimulation in LAKs (Appendix II). Thus, at this point it is impossible to conclude if DGKζ has other functions aside from recycling DAG levels in NK cells. Based on its sequence, one potential secondary role it could have is in acting as a scaffold protein. DGKζ has been reported to bind to intracellular trafficking proteins like Sorting Nexin-27, as well as associate with PKCs (94, 95), and bringing these proteins together could potentially be important in degranulation and cytokine production.

Despite this setback, my other data also implicate the role of DGKς in removing excess DAG from NK cells to terminate activation signals. DGKς deficient NK cells experience an excess phosphorylation of ERK pathway, and require higher concentrations of the MEK inhibitor U0126 to attenuate their function. ERK has been previously shown to be critical for NK cell function(96). However, ERK activation alone is insufficient to drive NK cell responses, as IL-2 stimulation also drives ERK phosphorylation, but is not sufficient to induce NK cells to degranulate or produce cytokine(97). In that respect, it seems probable that pERK is acting as an amplifier for NK cell responses. This idea is reinforced by my observation that the enhancement in DGKς KO NK function is in both maximal response and sensitivity.

In this chapter, we also examined two of the other major signaling pathways known to be affected by DAG signaling in T cells. We find that indeed, stimulation through the DAG analogue PMA causes T cells to increase in pAKT and plkB, which are mediators of the AKT and the NFkB pathways respectively. However, in comparison, these two pathways are less activatable by PMA in NK cells, suggesting the dominance of ERK in dictating immediate NK cell responses.

Clinically speaking, not only does targeting DGK^c for NK cell therapies bypass the potential for tuning, it also has two major benefits as compared to convention methods that target the inhibitory receptor. Firstly, targeting the inhibitory receptor has the potential for altering the NK cells specificity. The loss of inhibitory receptor signaling could mean that NK cells might begin to target self. In the case of a downstream negative regulator like DGK^c, its effects can only be potentiated if the NK cell receives a net positive activation signal in the first place. Secondly, the removal of negative regulators that are directly associated with MHC class I-binding inhibitory receptors such as SHP-1 and SHIP abrogates the ability of NK cells to conduct missing-self recognition. In comparison, my data show that inhibitory receptor function and missing-self recognition are intact in DGK^c deficient NK cells.

Lastly, the key position of DGKζ, in cytotoxic T cell and NK cell function highlights its potential as a specific target for clinical purposes in anti-tumor responses (98). A small molecule inhibitor for the type I DGKs has been reported

in the literature (99), though its solubility in aqueous solutions is limited. It is possible that a combination of cellular and pharmaceutical therapies aimed at enhancing cytotoxic functions of both T and NK cells by targeting the DGKs can therefore be achieved in the future.

Figures



Figure 5 :DGKζ-deficient NK cells exhibit enhanced function downstream of activating receptors.

The proportion of NK (CD3⁻NK1.1⁺) cells expressing A) inhibitory and B) activating Ly49 receptors, and C) CD27/CD11b in WT and DGK KO cells is shown. N=7. D) Splenocytes from WT and DGKζ KO mice were stimulated with plate-bound anti-NK1.1 antibody. The proportion of NK cells labeled with anti-CD107a (left) and intracellular IFNy antibody (right) is shown. N=17. E) Splenocytes from WT and DGKζ KO mice were stimulated with plate-bound antibodies against the indicated activating receptors or with PMA/Ionomycin (PI). The proportion of NK cells incoporating anti-CD107a antibody is shown. N=4-5 per condition. F) Splenocytes from WT and DGKζ KO mice were stimulated with PMA/ionomycin or with IL-12 and IL-18. The proportion of NK cells expressing intracellular IFNy is shown. N=5-6 per condition G) Splenocytes from polyI:Ctreated WT and DGKζ KO mice were stimulated with plate-bound anti-NK1.1 antibodies. The proportion of NK cells labeled with anti-CD107a (left) and intracellular IFNy antibody (right) is shown. N=5. *,** and *** represent statistical significance of p<0.05, p<0.01, and p<0.001 by Students' t-test, respectively. NS = not significant. Data shown are compiled from 2 separate experiments are shown in A-C and E, and from at least 3 separate experiments for figures D, F and G.



Figure 6: DGKa deficiency does not enhance NK cell responsiveness.

Splenocytes from WT or DGKa KO mice were stimulated with platebound anti-NK1.1, and the ability of NK cells to degranulate (left) or produce IFNg (right) was analyzed via flow cytometry. N=6. NS = Not significant by Student's T test.



Figure 7: DGKζ KO LAKs display increased cytotoxicity and cytokine production upon interaction with tumor cells.

A) WT or DGK ζ KO LAKs were stimulated with plate-bound anti-NK1.1 antibodies. The proportion of NK cells labeled with anti-CD107a (left) and intracellular IFN γ antibody (right) is shown. Data from 6 independent experiments is shown (*P<0.05 by Student's t-test). N=6 B) WT or DGK ζ KO LAKs were co-cultured with YAC-1 cells at the indicated E:T ratios and % specific lysis was determined 4 hours later. C) WT or DGK ζ KO LAKs were plated with or without YAC-1 cells at a 1:1 ratio for 24 hours. IFN γ content in the cell-free supernatants was determined by ELISA. One representative of N=3 independent experiments is shown for B and C.



Figure 8: DGKζ KO NK cells are hyperreponsive in a cell-intrinsic and developmentally independent manner.

A) Splenocytes from WT/WT control and WT/DGK ζ KO mixed BM chimeras were stimulated with plate-bound anti-NK1.1 antibody. The proportion of NK cells labeled with anti-CD107a and B) intracellular IFN γ antibody is shown. Cells derived from either the B6 control BM or DGK ζ KO bone marrow were paired with cells that were of WT competitor BM origin within the same mouse. N=11. C) Splenocytes from Tamoxifentreated DGK ζ ^{F/F} Rosa26-YFP ERCreT2 or Rosa26-YFP ERCreT2 control mice were stimulated with plate-bound anti-NK1.1 antibody. The proportion of NK cells (CD3⁻DX5⁺NKp46⁺YFP⁺ lymphocytes) labeled with anti-CD107a and D) intracellular IFN γ antibody is shown. N=6. *,** and *** represent a statistical significance by students' t-test of P<0.05, P<0.01 and P<0.001 respectively. NS= not significant. All data shown in this figure is compiled from at least 3 independent experiments.



Figure 9: Enhanced ERK signaling is associated with the hyperresponsiveness of DGK ζ KO NK cells.

A) Splenocytes from WT or DGK ζ KO mice were stimulated with PMA for 5 minutes followed by flow cytometric analysis of plkBa, pERK, and pAKT expression by T cells (CD4⁺ or CD8⁺) and NK cells (CD4⁻CD8⁻NK1.1⁺). Representative histograms and B) mean fluorescence intensities are shown. One representative of 2 independent experiments is shown, N=6. C) LAKs were left unstimulated or stimulated with anti-NK1.1 antibody for the indicated duration. Cell lysates were analyzed for pERK, D) pAKT, or E) IkB by Western blot analysis. Total PLC γ 2 or b-actin was used as a loading control. All bands were normalized to their respective loading control, and values for pERK and pAKT were then divided by the maximum WT response, while values for total lkBa were divided by the unstimulated WT. F) WT or DGK ζ KO splenocytes were stimulated with plate-bound PK136 antibody in the presence of various concentrations of the MEK inhibitor U0126. The proportion of NK cells incorporating anti-CD107a antibody is shown N=3-5 per concentration. NS = not significant by Students' T test, *** = P<0.001 by 2 way-ANOVA. Data is representative (in C-E) or complied from (F) at least 3 independent experiments.



Figure 10: DGK ζ KO NK cells are licensed and more effectively clear TAP-deficient tumor cells.

A) Splenocytes from WT and DGKζ KO mice were stimulated with either plate-bound anti-NK1.1 antibody + anti-Ly49G2 antibody, or anti-NK1.1 antibody alone. The % inhibition by the addition of the Lv49G2 antibody on the incorporation of anti-CD107 by Ly49G2⁻ or Ly49G2⁺ NK cells is shown by scatter plot. Data shown is compiled from 2 independent experiments N=6 B) Splenocytes from WT and DGKZ KO mice were stimulated with plate-bound anti-NK1.1 antibody. The proportion of Ly49C⁺ versus Ly49C⁻ NK cells incoporating anti-CD107a and C) intracellular IFNy antibody (right) is shown. Data shown is compiled from 2 independent experiments, N=5. D) Sublethally irradiated WT or KbDb DKO hosts were injected with congenically disparate WT and DGKZ KO splenocytes. 7 days after adoptive transfer, splenocytes were harvested and stimulated with plate bound anti-NK1.1. The responsiveness of WT and DGKζ KO NK cells in each host was measured by CD107⁺ (left) and IFNy production (right) was measured by flow cytometery. Data shown is pooled from 2 independent experiments, N=7. E) WT or DGKζ KO mice were injected i.v. with a mixture of CFSE-labeled RMA and CelltraceViolet-labeled RMAS-S tumors. 18 hours later, splenocytes were analyzed for the presence of residual tumor cells via flow cytometry. The ratio of RMA-S versus RMA within each WT or DGK ζ KO mouse was calculated and shown as a scatter plot. One representative experiment of 2 independent experiments is shown. *,** and *** represent a statistical significance by students' t-test of P<0.05, P<0.01 and P<0.001 respectively.


Figure 11: DGK ζ deficiency enhances NK cell function without affecting inhibitory receptor signaling.

A summary figure demonstrating how DGKζ deficiency enhances pERK levels in NK cells, resulting in increased function and tumor rejection, while preserving inhibitory receptor signaling and missing self recognition.

CHAPTER 4: Discussion

Overview

In this thesis, I examine the nature of tuning in NK cells. In chapter 2, I find that NK cells are likely to be tuned by both cell intrinsic and cell extrinsic expression of MHC Class I. They are also inherently sensitive to the total cellular SHP-1 levels, and tune rapidly (<7days post gene deletion). I also confirmed that NK cell tuning can be bypassed using PMA and lonomycin stimulation, suggesting that the downstream activation pathways are intact in tuned NK cells. In chapter 3, I demonstrate that knowledge of the proximal nature of NK cell tuning allows us to modulate NK cell responsiveness by targeting a distal negative regulator of signaling DGKζ. NK cells lacking DGKζ are more likely to respond to cytokines or PMA and lonomycin. DGKζ KO NK cells are hyperfunctional due to the excess activation of the ERK pathway, and are more likely to reject MHC Class I tumors than their WT counterparts.

However, many questions still remain in the field of NK cell tuning. One striking finding is the dependence of NK cells on SHP-1 expression. The haploinsufficiency of SHP-1 in NK cells confirms the importance of inhibitory signaling to NK cell function. It would be interesting to see if this haploinsufficient phenotype also occurs in NK cells lacking one allele of the other inhibitory phosphatases like SHIP and SHP-2. Additionally, this data suggests that NK cells

could be uniquely sensitive to SHP-1 concentrations in the cytoplasm. If so, one potentially interesting experiment is to overexpress SHP-1, and see how NK cell function is affected. My usage of the ER-CreT2 system to delete the gene also shows that mature NK cells are still capable of detecting differences in SHP-1 levels, and supports previous findings on germline SHP-1 and SHIP deficiency (24, 30, 55). I also show that while these cells are hyporesponsive to activating receptor stimulus, they are still responsive to PMA and ionomycin. Indeed, other studies of tuned NK cells have also shown that "hyporesponsive" NK cells respond as well as WT controls not just to PMA and lonomycin, but also IL-12 and IL-18 (23, 32).

The idea that NK cells are still normally responsive to cytokine has made the overall *In vivo* importance of tuning uncertain. Experiments have shown that unlicensed NK cells (that have reduced responsiveness *in vitro*) are the primary responders in certain viral infections(82). The same report also found that NK cell licensing normalized the *in vitro* responsiveness of NK cells that expressed self recognizing inhibitory receptors to those that did not, but only when the NK cells were challenged with targets that expressed ligands for the inhibitory receptors. This suggested that tuning (or licensing) is important to improve NK cell responses during missing self recognition (100). In that respect, understanding the molecular mechanism of tuning could unlock the key to improving NK cell function against MHC class I low targets. Another potential hypothesis for the importance of tuning involves the prevention of autoimmunity by NK cells that do not express the correct inhibitory receptors.

Regrettably, I was unable to identify the molecular mechanism of tuning. However, based on my data and that of others, it is likely that NK cell tuning is focused on the proximal signaling pathway. One potential mechanism for induced chronic activation could be a positive feedback loop on the inhibitory pathway. The Src kinase LCK has been shown to phosphorylate the inhibitory receptors, and may induce the recruitment of the inhibitory phosphatase SHP-1 to the plasma membrane where it can attenuate signaling (29). Furthermore, SHP-1 function has also been shown to increase in response to PA, which is a byproduct of activation signals(45). However, this explanation does not account for the acute defect in NK cell function upon deletion of a negative regulator (24, 30, 55).

NK cell tuning is also thought to be controlled at a transcriptional level. Mice bearing a mutation in NKp46 revealed a potential role for Helios in the tuning of NK cells (101). Helios is a member of the Ikaros family of transcription factors; in particular Ikaros itself has been shown to calibrate lymphocyte responses(102). Ikaros and its family member Aiolos are also important in the development and maturation of NK cells respectively (103, 104). While the precise mechanism of Helios involvement in NK cell tuning is unknown, it is possible that Helios could bind to Ikaros or Aiolos, and thereby participate in NK cell tuning as well.

Another potential mechanism for tuning could be the downregulation of proximal signaling molecules shared by the three activating receptor signaling pathways. This is supported by the observation that tuned NK cells are

hyporesponsive to stimuli through multiple receptors, not just the receptor that is chronically stimulated (72). In preliminary data that I have not discussed here, I have found that prolonged stimulation through the activating receptor reduces the protein levels of proximal signaling mediators, which could be a mechanic by which tolerance is induced. A signaling strength dependent negative feedback loop on proteins in the activating signal cascade could also serve as a reason why NK cells appear to have dependence on MHC class I expression both in cis and trans (chapter 2) (58, 105, 106). It could also serve as an explanation for the rapid downregulation of NK cell responses upon loss of inhibitory phosphatase activity.

All three options are not mutually exclusive, and could play important roles in NK cell tuning. Fundamentally, solving the mechanism of tuning will be crucial in calibrating cellular therapies. Chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) have been effective in clearing tumor burden from patients, but clinical data has also shown that CAR therapy can cause a massive cytokine release syndrome (107). If tuning can be translated to other cell types, it could potentially help alleviate the effects of this cytokine storm. On the other hand, patients that have undergone allogeneic bone marrow transplantation of bone marrow have also reported an upregulation of NKG2 receptors on their NK cells, indicating the occurrence of a tuning phenomenon(108). Thus, by targeting tuning in these patients, prolonged retention of NK missing self function could be achieved, which would enhance graft versus tumor effects. On a similar note, CAR therapy is also being translated into NK cells, as NK cells do not require MHC matching in order to

activate against tumors (109). However, for prolonged function against the cancer cells, it is likely that these CAR NK cells will need to be edited to prevent them from tuning.

In the third chapter of this thesis, the phenotype of the DGK ζ KO mice confirms what has hitherto been a theoretical proposition: it is possible to improve NK cell responses by targeting negative regulators of signaling. Before this body of work, previous reports had only shown that NK cells would adapt by becoming less functional (24, 30, 32, 55), or regain lost functionality (53, 54). However, the study of DGK ζ KO NK cells has also added new dimensions to NK cell development and function.

One unexpected finding in DGK ζ KO NK was their surface receptor phenotype. NK cells lacking PLC γ 2 or SLP-76 cannot propagate activating signals, and have severely decreased inhibitory Ly49 receptor acquisition (23, 32); whereas B2M KO mice which have unopposed activating signals during development have increased fraction of NK cells expressing the Ly49 receptors (17, 110). Based on this information, and the hyperactive phenotype of the DGK ζ KO NK cells, I predicted that they would have increased levels of inhibitory receptor expression, much like the B2M KO mice. However, I found that these mice had comparable expression of the inhibitory NK cell receptors as compared to WT controls. Overall, this discovery increases the attractiveness of DGK ζ as a target for modulating NK cell function without affecting their ability to target missing self. However, these findings also suggested that calcium flux might play

a larger role than DAG levels in affecting receptor acquisition. Alternatively, it might also be possible that like iNKT cells, the only the deletion of both DGK α and DGK ζ will uncover defects in NK cell development(111).

The discovery that DGK ζ KO NK cells are more activatible than WT NK cells begets a number of questions. Firstly, if the other two isoforms of DGK (α and δ) expressed in lymphocytes have roles to play in NK cell development or function. My preliminary data on the DGK α mice suggest that it does not have a role to play in the activation of fresh NK cells, whereas DGK δ has not been studied in lymphocytes yet. Furthermore, based on data from T cells, it is likely that studies on DGK α function should focus on synapse formation and MTOC polarization. It could be possible that DGK α deficiency may affect the ability of NK cells to serially kill target cells. Another intriguing possibility is that through its calcium sensitive EF hand domain, DGK α may also play a larger role than DGK ζ in Ly49 receptor acquisition.

In contrast, not much has been reported regarding DGK^δ in immune lymphocytes. Domain analysis of DGK^δ indicates that it has a PH domain, which has been shown to promote its translocation to the plasma membrane upon PMA stimulation (84). Additionally, the PH domain is known to weakly bind to other phosphoinositols, which suggests that DGK^δ might have a role to play in the recycling of DAG to the plasma membrane.

Compared to T cells however, DGK ζ KO NK cells display hyperactive ERK, and less activation of pathways like pAKT and the NF κ B pathway. My data

on the effects of the non-competitive MEK inhibitor U0126 on both WT and DGK ξ KO NK cells suggests that ERK is not saturating under normal conditions. In both WT and in the DGK ξ KO mice, NK cells are still highly sensitive to the addition of U0126, which highlights its importance in modulating NK cell activation compared to the other pathways downstream of DAG. This observation begs the question: Why ERK? Perhaps due to the rapid nature of NK cell responses or the time course of assays used to stimulate them in this thesis, the role of the other pathways like AKT and NF κ B were not fully appreciated. Indeed, the slight reduction in total NK cell numbers in DGK ζ KO mice may point to an expansion or survival defect, both of which are also downstream of AKT and NF κ B activation.

Like the NK cells in this thesis, $CD8^+$ T cells that are DGK ζ deficient have been reported to increase their cytokine production and degranulation; however, the same paper also highlighted a defective expansion in the memory T cell compartment (112). NK cell memory is now also a major point of discussion in the field, and NK cells that have seen viral expansion are more likely to respond to rechallenge(113). It would therefore be interesting to study NK cell memory in the context of DGK ζ deficiency. One would predict that the NK cells in DGK ζ KO mice would be less likely to expand during rechallenge.

A related field of study would involve the role of PA in NK cells. Very little is known about PA metabolism in immune cells. However, it comes as a surprise that stimulation through the NK receptors did not appear to increase PA levels. Due to technical limitations of the PA assay, I was unable to test all the conditions that I would have liked. It is probable that the kinetics of PA formation or NK cell stimulation were not captured by the assay. One approach that could help answer this question is the use of fluorescent tags that can measure DAG or PA levels via live FRET imaging (93). This technology, once implemented in primary NK cells, could also be useful in determining which checkpoints of the NK cell cytotoxic process is affected by localize DAG concentrations (114).

On a more clinical note, DGK^C is being studied as a potential target for improving anti-tumor responses in adoptive T cell therapy. My data also highlight its importance in restraining NK cell activation, and provide further support for the utility of modulating DGK^C activity in immune cells. More specifically, perhaps a combination therapy targeting DGK^C in T and NK cells (for example using a small molecule inhibitor) could prove beneficial, and provide a broader spectrum of coverage against both MHC Class I expressing and MHC class I low tumor targets.

In any case, I believe that the findings of this thesis have added some perspective to bypassing the phenomenon of NK cell tuning. Importantly, it shows proof of concept that negative regulators of signaling in NK cells can be genetically altered to improve their function, and may guide others toward improving NK cell therapies.

APPENDIX I



Appendix I: The kinase domain of DGKζ is important for its function

A) DGK ζ KO bone marrow was retrovirally transduced with empty MIGR, WT-DGK ζ , or DGK ζ that had a point mutation in its kinase domain to stop its catalytic activity (DGK ζ -KD). The transduced bone marrow was then injected into lethally irradiated hosts. 8 weeks after injection, splenocytes were harvested and stimulated with platebound anti-NK1.1 antibody. The ability of NK cells expressing the viral proteins (marked by GFP expression) to degranulate (top) and produce IFNg (bottom) was analyzed by flow cytometery. N=2

APPENDIX II



Appendix II: DGKz deficiency may affect total PA levels, but receptor stimulation does not appear to affect PA levels in LAKs.

WT, or DGKz KO LAKs were stimulated with soluble anti-NK1.1, or soluble NK1.1 and IL-2, and then total cell lysate was analyzed for PA levels. The value of PA in each sample was normalized to either unstim controls (left) or WT unstim control only (right).

APPENDIX III: Materials and methods

Mice

B2M KO, KbDb DKO, C57BL/6 (B6) and B6.SJL mice were purchased from The Jackson Laboratory, Taconic Biosciences or Charles River Laboratories. DGK α KO DGK ζ KO and DGK $\zeta^{F/F}$ mice were described previously (46, 48, 86). SHP-1^{F/F} mice were bought from The Jackson laboratory and bred to ER-CreT2/Rosa-26-flox-stop-YFP reporter mice. CD45.1/45.2 heterozygous mice were created by breeding B6 mice to B6.SJL mice. Mice were housed in pathogen-free conditions and treated in strict compliance with Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee regulations of the University of Pennsylvania.

Flow cytometry, cell sorting, and data analysis

Abs for flow cytometry were purchased from BD Pharmingen (San Diego, CA), Biolegend (San Diego, CA), eBioscience (San Diego, CA), or Molecular Probes, Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA). Ly49C (4LO-3311) antibody was obtained from the UCSF cell culture facility. Flow cytometry and FACS were performed with an LSR II, FACS Canto, or a FACS Aria cell sorter (BD Biosciences). Data were analyzed with Flowjo software (Tree Star) and Prism (Graphpad), and all scatter plots have mean and SEM depicted. All flow data are pregated on live lymphocyte singlets, NK cells are CD3⁻DX5⁺NKp46⁺ are CD4⁻CD8⁻NK1.1⁺DX5⁺ unless otherwise stated. For phosphoflow, splenocytes from WT or DGKζ KO mice were stimulated with 100 ng/ml PMA and incubated at 37°C for 5 minutes. Cells were fixed with 1.5% PFA and permeabilized with methanol before being stained for flow cytometric analysis.

NK cell functional assays

 $DX5^+$ cells from B6 or DGK ζ KO mice were enriched by MACs (Miltenyi Biotech) and expanded in hIL-2 (1000 U/mI) in tissue culture media for at least 5 days to create LAKs. LAKs were used for assays after resting in fresh cytokine-free media. For NK cell activation, freshly isolated splenocytes or LAKs were cultured together with anti-CD107a antibody, hIL-2 (1000U/mI) and Monensin for 6 hours in tissue culture plates that were pre-coated with antibodies against NK cell activating receptors (20 µg/ml, overnight at 4°C unless otherwise specified). Cells were analyzed for anti-CD107a antibody and intracellular IFN γ by flow cytometry. In some experiments, splenocytes were preincubated with the specified concentration of the MEK inhibitor U0126 for 30 min both before and during stimulation. In experiments involving inhibitory receptor function, anti-Ly49G2 antibody (20 µg/ml) was added to some wells that also contained anti-NK1.1 antibody. % inhibition was then calculated by the following formula: (% of NK cells that responded to anti-NK1.1 - % of NK cells that responded to anti-NK1.1 + anti-Ly49G2) / (% of NK cells that responded to anti-NK1.1)

A luciferase expressing YAC-1 cell line was co-cultured with LAKs at varying E:T ratios for 4 hours for bioluminescent cytotoxic assays as previously described (115). Luciferase activity was detected via an IVIS Lumina II imaging system and

% specific lysis was calculated by the following formula: (minimum - test well) / (minimum – maximum) x 100%. To measure cytokine production after co-culture with YAC-1 cells, LAKs were co-cultured at a 1:1 ratio with either no targets or YAC-1 target cells for 24h in LAK media. The IFNγ content in cell-free supernatants was determined by ELISA (Biolegend).

Adoptive transfers and mixed BM chimeras

In chapter 2, splenocytes (~50 × 10^6 cells) from WT B6.SJL mice were injected i.v. into sublethally irradiated (6.0 Gy) WT B6 or KbDb DKO hosts. 7 days after transfer, the spleens from host animals were harvested for functional analysis. BM (5 × 10^6 cells) from B2M KO or KbDb DKO mice were mixed with CD45.1/45.2 heterozygous competitor BM (5 × 10^6 cells) and injected i.v. into lethally irradiated B6.SJL congenic host mice (9.5 Gy). Splenocytes were taken from the BM chimeras between 9-12 wk later for functional analysis.

In chapter 3, BM (5 × 10^6 cells) from control B6 or DGK ζ KO mice were mixed with CD45.1/45.2 heterozygous competitor BM (5 × 10^6 cells) and injected i.v. into lethally irradiated B6.SJL congenic host mice (9.5 Gy). Splenocytes were taken from the BM chimeras between 9-12 wk later for functional analysis.

Acute deletion of DGKζ floxed alleles using ERCreT2

SHP1^{F/F} Rosa26-YFP ERCreT2, DGK $\zeta^{F/F}$ Rosa26-YFP ERCreT2 or control Rosa26-YFP ERCreT2 mice were treated with tamoxifen for 5 days as previously

described (116). 1 week after the end of treatment, splenocytes were removed for functional analysis.

Retroviral transduction of BM

Retroviral transductions were performed as previously described(86). Briefly, DGK ζ KO donors were injected with 5-fluorouracil. 5 days after injection, BM from these mice were harvested and incubated with viral particles that had either the empty vector MIGR, WT- DGK ζ , or DGK ζ KD mutant isoform. The transduced bone marrow was then injected into lethally irradiated hosts (9.5 Gy), and 8 weeks after injection the splenocytes were taken for functional analysis.

Assay for PA concentration

LAKs (5 \times 10⁶ cells) were made as described above. They were then stimulated using soluble anti-NK1.1 with or without the addition of IL-2 for 15 minutes. The cells were then lysed and analyzed according to the instructions in the Total Phosphatidic Acid Assay kit (from Cayman Chemicals).

Western blot analysis

MACS-enriched splenic DX5⁺ NK cells (pERK) or LAKs were rested for 2-4 hours, and stimulated with soluble isotype control Ab or PK136 Ab (30 μ g/ml) for the indicated times. The cells were then lysed in 1% lpegal in Tris-buffered saline with protease/phosphatase inhibitors (protease inhibitor cocktail solution [Roche,

Sigma]), and the proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA). The phosphorylation of ERK1/2 (Thr202/Tyr204), total IkB α (Ser32, and pAKT (Ser473) were analyzed by Western blotting. Total PLC γ 2 or beta-actin was used as a loading control. All antibodies were from Cell Signaling (Danvers, MA), except for anti-beta-actin-HRP antibody (Sigma)

In vivo tumor challenge

RMA and RMA-S cells were labeled with CFSE and CellTrace violet, respectively and injected i.v. at a 1:3 ratio (20×106 cells total) into WT or DGK ζ KO mice. 18 hours after injection, spleens were harvested from these mice and the presence of tumor cells was analyzed by flow cytometry.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

1. Artis, D., and H. Spits. 2015. The biology of innate lymphoid cells. *Nature* 517: 293–301.

2. Kiessling, R., E. Klein, and H. Wigzell. 1975. "Natural" killer cells in the mouse. I. Cytotoxic cells with specificity for mouse Moloney leukemia cells. Specificity and distribution according to genotype. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 5: 112–117.

3. Kim, S., K. lizuka, H. L. Aguila, I. L. Weissman, and W. M. Yokoyama. 2000. In vivo natural killer cell activities revealed by natural killer cell-deficient mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97: 2731–2736.

4. Ardolino, M., C. S. Azimi, A. Iannello, T. N. Trevino, L. Horan, L. Zhang, W. Deng, A. M. Ring, S. Fischer, K. C. Garcia, and D. H. Raulet. 2014. Cytokine therapy reverses NK cell anergy in MHC-deficient tumors. *J. Clin. Invest.* 124: 4781–4794.

5. Arase, H., E. S. Mocarski, A. E. Campbell, A. B. Hill, and L. L. Lanier. 2002. Direct recognition of cytomegalovirus by activating and inhibitory NK cell receptors. *Science* 296: 1323–1326.

6. Biron, C. A., K. B. Nguyen, G. C. Pien, L. P. Cousens, and T. P. Salazar-Mather. 1999. Natural killer cells in antiviral defense: function and regulation by innate cytokines. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 17: 189–220.

7. Schoenborn, J. R., and C. B. Wilson. 2007. Regulation of Interferon-γ During Innate and Adaptive Immune Responses. In *Advances in Immunology*. Advances in Immunology vol. 96. Elsevier. 41–101.

8. Neefjes, J., M. L. M. Jongsma, P. Paul, and O. Bakke. 2011. Towards a systems understanding of MHC class I and MHC class II antigenpresentation. *Nature Publishing Group* 11: 823–836.

9. Orange, J. S. 2012. Unraveling human natural killer cell deficiency. *J. Clin. Invest.* 122: 798–801.

10. Ljunggren, H.-G., and K. Kärre. 1990. In search of the "missing self": MHC molecules and NK cell recognition. *Immunology Today* 11: 237–244.

11. Di Santo, J. P. 2006. NATURAL KILLER CELL DEVELOPMENTAL PATHWAYS: A Question of Balance. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 24: 257–286.

12. Yu, J., A. G. Freud, and M. A. Caligiuri. 2013. Location and cellular stages of natural killer cell development. *Trends in Immunology* 34: 573–582.

13. Ranson, T. 2003. IL-15 is an essential mediator of peripheral NK-cell homeostasis. *Blood* 101: 4887–4893.

14. Kennedy, M. K., M. Glaccum, and S. N. Brown. 2000. Reversible defects in natural killer and memory CD8 T cell lineages in interleukin 15–deficient mice. *J. Exp. Med.* 15. Fehniger, T. A., K. Suzuki, and A. Ponnappan. 2001. Fatal leukemia in interleukin 15 transgenic mice follows early expansions in natural killer and memory phenotype CD8+ T cells. *J. Exp. Med.*

16. Kawamura, T., R. Koka, A. Ma, and V. Kumar. 2003. Differential Roles for IL-15R - Chain in NK Cell Development and Ly-49 Induction. *The Journal of Immunology* 171: 5085–5090.

17. Roth, C., J. R. Carlyle, H. Takizawa, and D. H. Raulet. 2000. Clonal acquisition of inhibitory Ly49 receptors on developing NK cells is successively restricted and regulated by stromal class I MHC. *Immunity*.

18. Tanamachi, D. M., T. Hanke, H. Takizawa, A. M. Jamieson, and D. R. Raulet. 2001. Expression of natural killer receptor alleles at different Ly49 loci occurs independently

and is regulated by major histocompatibility complex class I molecules. *J. Exp. Med.* 193: 307–315.

19. Held, W., J. Roland, and D. H. Raulet. 1995. Allelic exclusion of Ly49-family genes encoding class I MHC-specific receptors on NK cells. *Nature* 376: 355–358.

20. Raulet, D. H., W. Held, I. Correa, J. R. Dorfman, M. F. Wu, and L. Corral. 1997. Specificity, tolerance and developmental regulation of natural killer cells defined by expression of class I-specific Ly49 receptors. *Immunol. Rev.* 155: 41–52.

21. Dorfman, J. R., and D. H. Raulet. 1998. Acquisition of Ly49 receptor expression by developing natural killer cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 187: 609–618.

22. Colucci, F., E. Schweighoffer, E. Tomasello, M. Turner, J. R. Ortaldo, E. Vivier, V. L. J. Tybulewicz, and J. P. Di Santo. 2002. Natural cytotoxicity uncoupled from the Syk and ZAP-70 intracellular kinases. *Nat Immunol* 3: 288–294.

23. Tassi, I., R. Presti, S. Kim, W. M. Yokoyama, S. Gilfillan, and M. Colonna. 2005. Phospholipase C-gamma 2 is a critical signaling mediator for murine NK cell activating receptors. *J. Immunol.* 175: 749–754.

24. Lowin-Kropf, B., B. Kunz, F. Beermann, and W. Held. 2000. Impaired natural killing of MHC class I-deficient targets by NK cells expressing a catalytically inactive form of SHP-1. *J. Immunol.* 165: 1314–1321.

25. Horowitz, A., D. M. Strauss-Albee, M. Leipold, J. Kubo, N. Nemat-Gorgani, O. C. Dogan, C. L. Dekker, S. Mackey, H. Maecker, G. E. Swan, M. M. Davis, P. J. Norman, L. A. Guethlein, M. Desai, P. Parham, and C. A. Blish. 2013. Genetic and Environmental Determinants of Human NK Cell Diversity Revealed by Mass Cytometry. *Science Translational Medicine* 5: 208ra145–208ra145.

26. Dimasi, N., and R. Biassoni. 2005. Structural and functional aspects of the Ly49 natural killer cell receptors. *Immunology and Cell Biology*.

27. Hanke, T., H. Takizawa, C. W. McMahon, D. H. Busch, E. G. Pamer, J. D. Miller, J. D. Altman, Y. Liu, D. Cado, F. A. Lemonnier, P. J. Bjorkman, and D. H. Raulet. 1999. Direct assessment of MHC class I binding by seven Ly49 inhibitory NK cell receptors. *Immunity* 11: 67–77.

28. Lanier, L. L. 2008. Up on the tightrope: natural killer cell activation and inhibition. *Nat Immunol* 9: 495–502.

29. Binstadt, B. A., K. M. Brumbaugh, C. J. Dick, and A. M. Scharenberg. 1996. Sequential involvement of Lck and SHP-1 with MHC-recognizing receptors on NK cells inhibits FcR-initiated tyrosine kinase activation. *Immunity*.

30. Gumbleton, M., E. Vivier, and W. G. Kerr. 2015. SHIP1 Intrinsically Regulates NK Cell Signaling and Education, Resulting in Tolerance of an MHC Class I-Mismatched Bone Marrow Graft in Mice. *The Journal of Immunology* 194: 2847–2854.

31. Huse, M. 2013. Inhibitory receptor signaling destabilizes immunological synapse formation in primary NK cells. 1–6.

32. May, R. M., M. Okumura, C. J. Hsu, H. Bassiri, E. Yang, G. Rak, E. M. Mace, N. H. Philip, W. Zhang, T. Baumgart, J. S. Orange, K. E. Nichols, and T. Kambayashi. 2013. Murine natural killer immunoreceptors use distinct proximal signaling complexes to direct cell function. *Blood* 121: 3135–3146.

33. Kropf, B. L., B. Kunz, and P. Schneider. 2002. A role for the src family kinase Fyn in NK cell activation and the formation of the repertoire of Ly49 receptors. *European journal of*

34. Lanier, L. L. 2009. DAP10- and DAP12-associated receptors in innate immunity. *Immunol. Rev.* 227: 150–160.

35. Upshaw, J. L., and P. J. Leibson. 2006. NKG2D-mediated activation of cytotoxic

lymphocytes: Unique signaling pathways and distinct functional outcomes. *Seminars in Immunology* 18: 167–175.

36. Assarsson, E., T. Kambayashi, C. M. Persson, B. J. Chambers, and H. G. Ljunggren. 2005. 2B4/CD48-Mediated Regulation of Lymphocyte Activation and Function. *The Journal of Immunology* 175: 2045–2049.

 Dong, Z., D. Davidson, L. A. Pérez-Quintero, T. Kurosaki, W. Swat, and A. Veillette.
 The Adaptor SAP Controls NK Cell Activation by Regulating the Enzymes Vav-1 and SHIP-1 and by Enhancing Conjugates with Target Cells. *Immunity* 36: 974–985.
 Oykhman, P., M. Timm-McCann, R. F. Xiang, A. Islam, S. S. Li, D. Stack, S. M. Huston, L. L. Ma, and C. H. Mody. 2013. Requirement and Redundancy of the Src Family Kinases Fyn and Lyn in Perforin-Dependent Killing of Cryptococcus neoformans by NK Cells. *Infection and Immunity* 81: 3912–3922.

39. Caraux, A. 2005. Phospholipase C- 2 is essential for NK cell cytotoxicity and innate immunity to malignant and virally infected cells. *Blood* 107: 994–1002.

40. Sauer, K., and M. P. Cooke. 2010. Regulation of immune cell development through soluble inositol-1,3,4,5-tetrakisphosphate. *Nature Publishing Group* 10: 257–271.

41. Wilde, J. I., and S. P. Watson. 2001. Regulation of phospholipase C γ isoforms in haematopoietic cells: Why one, not the other? *Cellular Signalling*.

42. Miller, A. T., P. P. Chamberlain, and M. P. Cooke. 2008. Beyond IP3: roles for higher order inositol phosphates in immune cell signaling. *Cell Cycle* 7: 463–467.

43. Vig, M., and J.-P. Kinet. 2009. Calcium signaling in immune cells. *Nat Immunol* 10: 21–27.

44. Crabtree, G. R., and E. N. Olson. 2002. NFAT signaling: choreographing the social lives of cells. *Cell* 109 Suppl: S67–79.

45. Carsten Frank, Heike Keilhack, Frank Opitz, A. Olaf Zschörnig, Frank-D Böhmer. 2013. Binding of Phosphatidic Acid to the Protein-Tyrosine Phosphatase SHP-1 as a Basis for Activity Modulation[†]. 1–14.

46. Liu, C. H., F. S. Machado, R. Guo, K. E. Nichols, A. W. Burks, J. C. Aliberti, and X. P. Zhong. 2007. Diacylglycerol kinase regulates microbial recognition and host resistance to Toxoplasma gondii. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 204: 781–792. 47. Gorentla, B. K., C. K. Wan, and X. P. Zhong. 2011. Negative regulation of mTOR

activation by diacylglycerol kinases. *Blood* 117: 4022–4031.

48. Schmidt, A. M., T. Zou, R. P. Joshi, T. M. Leichner, M. A. Pimentel, C. L. Sommers, and T. Kambayashi. 2013. Diacylglycerol Kinase Limits the Generation of Natural Regulatory T Cells. *Science Signaling* 6: ra101–ra101.

49. Zhong, X.-P., R. Guo, H. Zhou, C. Liu, and C.-K. Wan. 2008. Diacylglycerol kinases in immune cell function and self-tolerance. *Immunol. Rev.* 224: 249–264.

50. Karin, M. 1995. The regulation of AP-1 activity by mitogen-activated protein kinases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*.

51. Koretzky, G. A., F. Abtahian, and M. A. Silverman. 2006. SLP76 and SLP65: complex regulation of signalling in lymphocytes and beyond. *Nature Publishing Group* 6: 67–78.

52. Joncker, N. T., N. C. Fernandez, E. Treiner, E. Vivier, and D. H. Raulet. 2009. NK Cell Responsiveness Is Tuned Commensurate with the Number of Inhibitory Receptors for Self-MHC Class I: The Rheostat Model. *The Journal of Immunology* 182: 4572–4580. 53. Joncker, N. T., N. Shifrin, F. Delebecque, and D. H. Raulet. 2010. Mature natural killer cells reset their responsiveness when exposed to an altered MHC environment. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 207: 2065–2072.

54. Elliott, J. M., J. A. Wahle, and W. M. Yokoyama. 2010. MHC class I-deficient natural

killer cells acquire a licensed phenotype after transfer into an MHC class I-sufficient environment. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 207: 2073–2079.

55. Viant, C., A. Fenis, G. E. T. Chicanne, B. Payrastre, S. Ugolini, and E. Vivier. 2014. SHP-1-mediated inhibitory signals promoteresponsiveness and anti-tumour functions of natural killer cells. *Nature Communications* 5: 1–11.

56. Höglund, P., and P. Brodin. 2010. Current perspectives of natural killer cell education by MHC class I molecules. *Nature Publishing Group* 10: 724–734.

57. Kim, S., J. Poursine-Laurent, S. M. Truscott, L. Lybarger, Y.-J. Song, L. Yang, A. R. French, J. B. Sunwoo, S. Lemieux, T. H. Hansen, and W. M. Yokoyama. 2005. Licensing of natural killer cells by host major histocompatibility complex class I molecules. *Nature* 436: 709–713.

58. Chalifour, A., L. Scarpellino, J. Back, P. Brodin, E. Devèvre, F. Gros, F. Lévy, G. Leclercq, P. Höglund, F. Beermann, and W. Held. 2009. A Role for cis Interaction between the Inhibitory Ly49A Receptor and MHC Class I for Natural Killer Cell Education. *Immunity* 30: 337–347.

59. Cheng, M., Y. Chen, W. Xiao, R. Sun, and Z. Tian. 2013. NK cell-based immunotherapy for malignant diseases. *Cellular and Molecular Immunology* 10: 230–252.

60. Hayes, R. L., M. Koslow, E. M. Hiesiger, and K. B. Hymes. 1995. Improved long term survival after intracavitary interleukin-2 and lymphokine-activated killer cells for adults with recurrent malignant glioma. *Cancer*.

61. Hsu, K. C., T. Gooley, M. Malkki, C. Pinto-Agnello, B. Dupont, J.-D. Bignon, M. Bornhäuser, F. Christiansen, A. Gratwohl, Y. Morishima, M. Oudshoorn, O. Ringden, J. J. van Rood, and E. Petersdorf. 2006. KIR Ligands and Prediction of Relapse after Unrelated Donor Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation for Hematologic Malignancy. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation* 12: 828–836.

62. Uherek, C., T. Tonn, B. Uherek, S. Becker, B. Schnierle, H.-G. Klingemann, and W. Wels. 2002. Retargeting of natural killer-cell cytolytic activity to ErbB2-expressing cancer cells results in efficient and selective tumor cell destruction. *Blood* 100: 1265–1273. 63. Law, T. M., R. J. Motzer, M. Mazumdar, K. W. Sell, and P. Walther. 1995. Phase iii randomized trial of interleukin-2 with or without lymphokine-activated killer cells in the treatment of patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma. *Cancer*.

64. Weber, J. S., J. C. Yang, S. L. Topalian, D. J. Schwartzentruber, D. E. White, and S. A. Rosenberg. 1992. The use of interleukin-2 and lymphokine-activated killer cells for the treatment of patients with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 10: 33–40.

65. Robinson, P. J., P. J. Travers, A. Stackpoole, L. Flaherty, and H. Djaballah. 1998. Maturation of Qa-1b class I molecules requires beta 2-microglobulin but is TAP independent. *J. Immunol.* 160: 3217–3224.

66. Chiu, N. M., T. Chun, M. Fay, M. Mandal, and C. R. Wang. 1999. The majority of H2-M3 is retained intracellularly in a peptide-receptive state and traffics to the cell surface in the presence of N-formylated peptides. *J. Exp. Med.* 190: 423–434.

67. Vugmeyster, Y., R. Glas, B. Pérarnau, F. A. Lemonnier, H. Eisen, and H. Ploegh. 1998. Major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I KbDb -/- deficient mice possess functional CD8+ T cells and natural killer cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95: 12492–12497.

68. Hoglund, P., C. Ohlén, E. Carbone, L. Franksson, H. G. Ljunggren, A. Latour, B. Koller, and K. Kärre. 1991. Recognition of beta 2-microglobulin-negative (beta 2m-) T-cell blasts by natural killer cells from normal but not from beta 2m- mice:

nonresponsiveness controlled by beta 2m- bone marrow in chimeric mice. Proc. Natl.

Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 88: 10332–10336.

69. Bix, M., N. S. Liao, M. Zijlstra, J. Loring, R. Jaenisch, and D. Raulet. 1991. Rejection of class I MHC-deficient haemopoietic cells by irradiated MHC-matched mice. *Nature* 349: 329–331.

70. Wu, M. F., and D. H. Raulet. 1997. Class I-deficient hemopoietic cells and nonhemopoietic cells dominantly induce unresponsiveness of natural killer cells to class I-deficient bone marrow cell grafts. *J. Immunol.* 158: 1628–1633.

71. Zhao, Y., H. Ohdan, J. O. Manilay, and M. Sykes. 2003. NK Cell Tolerance in Mixed Allogeneic Chimeras. *The Journal of Immunology* 170: 5398–5405.

72. Bolanos, F. D., and S. K. Tripathy. 2011. Activation Receptor-Induced Tolerance of Mature NK Cells In Vivo Requires Signaling through the Receptor and Is Reversible. *The Journal of Immunology* 186: 2765–2771.

73. Tripathy, S. K., P. A. Keyel, L. Yang, J. T. Pingel, T. P. Cheng, A. Schneeberger, and W. M. Yokoyama. 2008. Continuous engagement of a self-specific activation receptor induces NK cell tolerance. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 205: 1829–1841.

74. Sun, J. C., and L. L. Lanier. 2008. Cutting edge: viral infection breaks NK cell tolerance to "missing self". *The Journal of Immunology* 181: 7453–7457.

75. Green, M. C., and L. D. Shultz. 1975. Motheaten, an immunodeficient mutant of the mouse. I. *Genetics and pathology J Hered*.

76. Tsui, H. W., K. A. Siminovitch, L. de Souza, and F. W. Tsui. 1993. Motheaten and viable motheaten mice have mutations in the haematopoietic cell phosphatase gene. *Nat. Genet.* 4: 124–129.

77. MacFarlane, A. W., T. Yamazaki, M. Fang, L. J. Sigal, T. Kurosaki, and K. S. Campbell. 2008. Enhanced NK-cell development and function in BCAP-deficient mice. *Blood* 112: 131–140.

78. Tormo, J., K. Natarajan, D. H. Margulies, and R. A. Mariuzza. 1999. Crystal structure of a lectin-like natural killer cell receptor bound to its MHC class I ligand. *Nature* 402: 623–631.

79. Back, J., E. L. Malchiodi, S. Cho, L. Scarpellino, P. Schneider, M. C. Kerzic, R. A. Mariuzza, and W. Held. 2009. Distinct Conformations of Ly49 Natural Killer Cell Receptors Mediate MHC Class I Recognition in Trans and Cis. *Immunity* 31: 598–608. 80. Deng, L., S. Cho, E. L. Malchiodi, M. C. Kerzic, and J. Dam. 2008. Molecular architecture of the major histocompatibility complex class I-binding site of Ly49 natural killer cell receptors. *Journal of Biological*

81. Doucey, M.-A., L. Scarpellino, J. Zimmer, P. Guillaume, I. F. Luescher, C. Bron, and W. Held. 2004. Cis association of Ly49A with MHC class I restricts natural killer cell inhibition. *Nat Immunol* 5: 328–336.

82. Orr, M. T., W. J. Murphy, and L. L. Lanier. 2010. "Unlicensed" natural killer cells dominate the response to cytomegalovirus infection. *Nat Immunol* 11: 321–327.
83. Chiesa, S. 2006. Multiplicity and plasticity of natural killer cell signaling pathways. *Blood* 107: 2364–2372.

84. Joshi, R. P., and G. A. Koretzky. 2013. Diacylglycerol kinases: Regulated controllers of T cell activation, function, and development. *International journal of molecular sciences*.

85. Shulga, Y. V., M. K. Topham, and R. M. Epand. 2011. Regulation and Functions of Diacylglycerol Kinases. *Chem. Rev.* 111: 6186–6208.

86. Joshi, R. P., A. M. Schmidt, J. Das, D. Pytel, M. J. Riese, M. Lester, J. A. Diehl, E. M. Behrens, T. Kambayashi, and G. A. Koretzky. 2013. The Isoform of Diacylglycerol Kinase Plays a Predominant Role in Regulatory T Cell Development and TCR-Mediated

Ras Signaling. *Science Signaling* 6: ra102–ra102.

87. Olenchock, B. A., R. Guo, J. H. Carpenter, M. Jordan, M. K. Topham, G. A. Koretzky, and X.-P. Zhong. 2006. Disruption of diacylglycerol metabolism impairs the induction of T cell anergy. *Nat Immunol* 7: 1174–1181.

88. Quann, E. J., E. Merino, T. Furuta, and M. Huse. 2009. Localized diacylglycerol drives the polarization of the microtubule-organizing center in T cells. *Nat Immunol* 10: 627–635.

89. Alonso, R., C. Mazzeo, M. C. Rodriguez, M. Marsh, A. Fraile-Ramos, V. Calvo, A. Avila-Flores, I. Merida, and M. Izquierdo. 2011. Diacylglycerol kinase. *Cell Death and Differentiation* 18: 1161–1173.

90. Chakraborty, A. K., J. Das, J. Zikherman, and M. Yang. 2009. Molecular origin and functional consequences of digital signaling and hysteresis during Ras activation in lymphocytes. *Science*.

91. Shen, S., J. Wu, S. Srivatsan, B. K. Gorentla, J. Shin, L. Xu, and X. P. Zhong. 2011. Tight Regulation of Diacylglycerol-Mediated Signaling Is Critical for Proper Invariant NKT Cell Development. *The Journal of Immunology* 187: 2122–2129.

92. Guo, R., C.-K. Wan, J. H. Carpenter, T. Mousallem, R.-M. N. Boustany, C.-T. Kuan, A. W. Burks, and X.-P. Zhong. 2008. Synergistic control of T cell development and tumor suppression by diacylglycerol kinase alpha and zeta. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105: 11909–11914.

93. Sato, M., Y. Ueda, and Y. Umezawa. 2006. Imaging diacylglycerol dynamics at organelle membranes. *Nat Meth* 3: 797–799.

94. Topham, M. K., M. Bunting, G. A. Zimmerman, T. M. McIntyre, P. J. Blackshear, and S. M. Prescott. 1998. Protein kinase C regulates the nuclear localization of diacylglycerol kinase-zeta. *Nature* 394: 697–700.

95. Rincón, E., T. Santos, A. Avila-Flores, J. P. Albar, V. Lalioti, C. Lei, W. Hong, and I. Mérida. 2007. Proteomics identification of sorting nexin 27 as a diacylglycerol kinase zeta-associated protein: new diacylglycerol kinase roles in endocytic recycling. *Mol. Cell Proteomics* 6: 1073–1087.

96. Jiang, K., B. Zhong, D. L. Gilvary, B. C. Corliss, E. Hong-Geller, S. Wei, and J. Y. Djeu. 2000. Pivotal role of phosphoinositide-3 kinase in regulation of cytotoxicity in natural killer cells. *Nat Immunol* 1: 419–425.

97. Yu, T. K., E. G. Caudell, C. Smid, and E. A. Grimm. 2000. IL-2 activation of NK cells: involvement of MKK1/2/ERK but not p38 kinase pathway. *J. Immunol.* 164: 6244–6251.
98. Riese, M. J., L. C. S. Wang, E. K. Moon, R. P. Joshi, A. Ranganathan, C. H. June, G. A. Koretzky, and S. M. Albelda. 2013. Enhanced Effector Responses in Activated CD8+ T Cells Deficient in Diacylglycerol Kinases. *Cancer Research* 73: 3566–3577.
99. Ohtsuka, T., M. Hiura, K. Yoshida, N. Okamura, and S. Ishibashi. 1990. A diacylglycerol kinase inhibitor, R 59 022, potentiates superoxide anion production and 46-kDa protein phosphorylation in guinea pig polymorphonuclear leukocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 265: 15418–15423.

100. Cruz-Munoz, M.-E., and A. Veillette. 2010. NEws AND VIEws. *Nat Immunol* 11: 279–280.

101. Narni-Mancinelli, E., B. N. Jaeger, C. Bernat, A. Fenis, S. Kung, A. De Gassart, S. Mahmood, M. Gut, S. C. Heath, J. Estelle, E. Bertosio, F. Vely, L. N. Gastinel, B. Beutler, B. Malissen, M. Malissen, I. G. Gut, E. Vivier, and S. Ugolini. 2012. Tuning of Natural Killer Cell Reactivity by NKp46 and Helios Calibrates T Cell Responses. *Science* 335: 344–348.

102. Narni-Mancinelli, E., S. Ugolini, and E. Vivier. 2013. Tuning the threshold of natural

killer cell responses. Current Opinion in Immunology 25: 53–58.

103. Georgopoulos, K., M. Bigby, J. H. Wang, A. Molnar, and P. Wu. 1994. The Ikaros gene is required for the development of all lymphoid lineages. *Cell*.

104. Holmes, M. L., N. D. Huntington, R. P. Thong, J. Brady, Y. Hayakawa, C. E.

Andoniou, P. Fleming, W. Shi, G. K. Smyth, M. A. Degli-Esposti, G. T. Belz, A. Kallies, S. Carotta, M. J. Smyth, and S. L. Nutt. 2014. Peripheral natural killer cell maturation depends on the transcription factor Aiolos. *EMBO J* 33: 2721–2734.

105. Bessoles, S., G. S. Angelov, J. Back, G. Leclercq, E. Vivier, and W. Held. 2013. Education of Murine NK Cells Requires Both cis and trans Recognition of MHC Class I Molecules. *The Journal of Immunology*.

106. Jonsson, A. H., and W. M. Yokoyama. 2013. Natural killer cell licensing in mice with inducible expression of MHC class I. In.

107. DeFrancesco, L. 2014. CAR-T cell therapy seeks strategies to harness cytokine storm. *Nature Publishing Group* 32: 604–604.

108. Picardi, A., A. Mengarelli, M. Marino, E. Gallo, M. Benevolo, E. Pescarmona, R. Cocco, R. Fraioli, E. Tremante, M. C. Petti, P. De Fabritiis, and P. Giacomini. 2015. Upregulation of activating and inhibitoryNKG2 receptors in allogeneic and autologous hematopoietic stem cell grafts. *Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research* 1–11.

109. Hermanson, D. L., and D. S. Kaufman. 2015. Utilizing Chimeric Antigen Receptors to Direct Natural Killer Cell Activity. *Front Immunol* 6.

110. Hanke, T., H. Takizawa, and D. H. Raulet. 2001. MHC-dependent shaping of the inhibitory Ly49 receptor repertoire on NK cells: evidence for a regulated sequential model. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 31: 3370–3379.

111. Krishna, S., and X.-P. Zhong. 2013. Regulation of Lipid Signaling by Diacylglycerol Kinases during T Cell Development and Function. *Front Immunol* 4: 178.

112. Shin, J., T. F. O'Brien, J. M. Grayson, and X. P. Zhong. 2012. Differential Regulation of Primary and Memory CD8 T Cell Immune Responses by Diacylglycerol Kinases. *The Journal of Immunology* 188: 2111–2117.

113. Sun, J. C., J. N. Beilke, and L. L. Lanier. 2009. Adaptive immune features of natural killer cells. *Nature* 457: 557–561.

114. Mace, E. M., P. Dongre, H.-T. Hsu, P. Sinha, A. M. James, S. S. Mann, L. R. Forbes, L. B. Watkin, and J. S. Orange. 2014. Cell biological steps and checkpoints in accessing NK cell cytotoxicity. 92: 245–255.

115. Karimi, M. A., E. Lee, M. H. Bachmann, A. M. Salicioni, E. M. Behrens, T. Kambayashi, and C. L. Baldwin. 2014. Measuring Cytotoxicity by Bioluminescence Imaging Outperforms the Standard Chromium-51 Release Assay. *PLoS ONE* 9: e89357.
116. Wu, G. F., E. Corbo, M. Schmidt, J. E. Smith-Garvin, M. J. Riese, M. S. Jordan, T. M. Laufer, E. J. Brown, and J. S. Maltzman. 2011. Conditional deletion of SLP-76 in mature T cells abrogates peripheral immune responses. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 41: 2064–2073.